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cONNECT

OPPORTUNITIES

CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”).
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this
report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

To all shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the audited consolidated annual financial statements
of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together referred as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
May 2021.

With the continuous attack of the COVID-19 pandemic carried over to
the year under review, the business environment around the globe has
not been recovered. Social distancing policy, quarantine order and travel
restriction by all local government around the globe have greatly affected
our business and our industry. Shows and events were still forced to
postpone, reschedule or cancel due to the above-mentioned reasons. The
Group recognized revenue of approximately HK$12.3 million for the year
ended 31 May 2021, representing a decrease of HK$32.4 million or 72%
compared with the year ended 31 May 2020. The gross loss of the Group
of approximately HK$22.5 million for the year ended 31 May 2021,
compared with a gross profit of approximately HK$2.7 million with the
year ended 31 May 2020. The Group’s net loss was approximately
HK$35.1 million representing an increase of approximately HK$10.8
million or 44% compared to the year ended 31 May 2020.

Although the traditional shows and events were adversely affected our
business during the year, the Group has started and successfully explored
a new business opportunity which can utilized our existing visual display
eguipment. Business opportunity arose from the popular demand of
streaming online concerts and extended reality (xR) shows/events which
extensive usage of visual displays with visual effects, and the Group had
explored this new technology and brought it into the entertainment or
even the TV and filming industry.

With the vaccination progress around the globe, the Board strongly
believed that the business can be resume to normal very soon. The Group
will continue to strengthen the management’s governance and open up
more business opportunities to diversify the business, ultimately
benefitting the shareholders in return.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FRERESE (B

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to the shareholders of #EEHEeE W H A NG R AN EERE - 275
the Company and the Group, business partners and customers for their ~ B £ & & B B A RO 89 B - Rl R &5 8
utmost support to the Group. The Group would also like to take this AN &M 8 H X 5o A& B J5 2 It il € &
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their hard HFFAEEABREI S E RN FEH T

work and dedication throughout the years. NMEER o

Yeung Ho Ting Dennis FE

Chairman BEE

Hong Kong, 24 August 2021 &8 —F-_—FN\HA=Z+M@EAB
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE D

Business Review

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of visual display solution
service.

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group was engaged in 65 pop
concert shows for Hong Kong and non-Hong Kong artists/bands (2020:
269).

The Group derived approximately 20.9% of its total revenue during the
year ended 31 May 2021 from pop concerts (2020: 67.1%), the majority
of which took place in Hong Kong, the PRC, Taiwan and Macau. The
remainder of the Group's revenue was attributable to other live events,
including corporate events, exhibitions, sports and recreational events and
other live performances, as well as equipment rental.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group faced the following risks
and uncertainties that might have affected the Group’s financial
condition, results of operations, business and prospects:

Financial risk

The Group’s operations are exposed to various types of financial risks
such as cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of the aforesaid risk factors and the
respective risk management measures are shown in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Operational risk

The success of the Group’s business is largely attributable to the Group’s
ability to keep pace with the latest development of visual display
technology in the market in order to provide feasible and cost-effective
visual display solutions to the Group’s customers. The Group's executive
directors and senior management are responsible for assessing the
change in market trends and making decisions to invest in suitable visual
display equipment to cope with the latest customer demands and
specifications in a timely and cost-effective manner.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Cyber risk and security

The Group’s computer equipment and website are exposed to attack,
damage or unauthorized access in this cyber era. Failure to protect the
Group's computer equipment and website from any unauthorized access
can result in reputational damage, financial loss and disruptions in
operations.

The Group has installed appropriate anti-virus software and internet fire
walls to protect the Group's computer equipment and website from any
cyber-attacks. Trainings have been provided to the Group’s staff to follow
a security code setting procedures to minimize the likelihood of any
unauthorized access to the Group’s computer equipment.

Data fraud or theft

The Group's critical information is kept and managed by the Group’s
executive directors and key management. Failure to protect the Group’s
critical information from any data fraud or theft can result in financial loss
and disruptions in operations.

Trainings have been provided to the Group’s executive directors and key
management for keeping and managing the Group's critical information
to minimize the likelihood of any data fraud or theft.

Environment and social risks

For details of how the Group addresses to its environment and social
risks, where applicable, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 38 to 56 of this annual report.

Market risk

The Group’s business performance and financial conditions may be
affected by the state of economy in Hong Kong. As an international
financial centre, the economy of Hong Kong is susceptible to material
fluctuations, volatility, disruptions or downturn of broader global
economic and financial environment, particularly to the developments in
the PRC. The Group's executive directors are responsible for determining
an overall market risk control framework, monitoring and assessing
market conditions and devising refined policies in light of any adverse
factors affecting the Group’s performance and market position.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE W Lo (8)

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from providing (i) visual display solutions to
its customers in relation to pop concert shows and various other live
events; and (ii) equipment rental.

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group's revenue by
source of income during the year ended 31 May 2021 with comparative

Bt % B B8

U =
AEEBROAERTEZLEBEREZEH
IR S ESHBE 2 BRI R G B RERE
FER: RNXREBEHEEE W -
TR RE=z2_FT_—FHRA=+—H

¢¢F$$@&Wkﬁﬁ% D 2 W R B AR

figures for the year ended 31 May 2020. FEHE_ZE-_ESFERA=+—RBIEEZ>
Lb R B o
Year ended 31 May 2021 Year ended 31 May 2020
BE-_ZE—-—F% BHE_ZT_TF
EA=+-BLEE FA=+—BILEE

% of total % of total
HK$'000 revenue HK$'000 revenue
I = B 1 W a5 A2 RE
FET HE 2L FAT EoNERalnd
Visual display solutions RGN RR T 12,022 97.4 44,403 99.3
Equipment rental REHEE 327 2.6 312 0.7
Total HET 12,349 100.0 44,715 100.0

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group principally derived its
revenue from the provision of visual display solutions, which accounted
for approximately 97.4% of the Group’s total revenue (2020: 99.3%).
The Group's revenue decreased from approximately HK$44.7 million for
the year ended 31 May 2020 to approximately HK$12.3 million for the
year ended 31 May 2021, representing a decrease of approximately 72%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Visual display solutions

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue from
visual display solutions during the year ended 31 May 2021 with
comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2020. For the purpose of
revenue breakdown presentation, other live events include corporate
events, sports and recreation events, exhibitions and other live
performances.

Year ended 31 May 2021

BHEE @ Lo (8)

BEBETRBRAR

TRHFIRBE=_ZE-_—FHEA=+—8
LEEASERERGRTBRTRZK
HAAERBE T _FTFAA=1T—
BLEFEZEBHRE -SL25| W AAMm

CHMBSRHEREEEE  BERK
ﬁaﬁxiﬁb REREMBLRE-

Year ended 31 May 2020

BE-Z--FIA=+-HLEE BE_T_ZTHAA=t-HLFE
% of total % of total
revenue Average revenue  Average
from visual  revenue from visual ~ revenue
No.of Revenue display pershow No.of  Revenue display  per show
shows (HK$'000) solutions (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)
EHRERT =] ERGET &%
BAFTR REHW BATR  REL®
B WE ARsEn FHRE ED e BkEms FHEkE
#A (F#ER) Bk (F&x) ®HA (FHT) B 5 H SR )
Pop concerts MITERERE 65 2,510 20.9 39 269 29,805 67.1 111
Other live events HiR5EE 1,163 9,512 79.1 7 778 14,598 329 19
Total revenue from 1R & B/RfiRIR
visual display AR EE
solutions 1,228 12,022 100.0 10 1,047 44,403 100.0 42
The decrease in revenue from pop concerts was mainly attributable to HiTZ & EEemKkzZz L TIETEHR
decrease in average revenue per show for pop concerts from mITE®EESeEHMNEH KB @zi

approximately HK$111,000 for the year ended 31 May 2020 to
approximately HK$39,000 for the year ended 31 May 2021, and decrease
in the number of shows affected by the COVID-19 during the year ended
31 May 2021.

The decrease in revenue from other live events was mainly attributable to
the decrease of average revenue per show. The average revenue per
show for other live events decreased from HK$19,000 for the year ended
31 May 2020 to approximately HK$7,000 for the year ended 31 May
2021. Although the number of shows increased from other live events,
the increase was mainly due to long rental period of window display shop
in a shopping mall.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE W Lo (8)

Revenue analysis by geographical location BRiIBEUEE D WS D

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group [XH¥EHEE-_ZE-_—FRA=+—H 1

from pop concerts by geographical location during the year ended 31 FEAE HIZH BN B2 HH K 1T = 4

May 2021 with comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2020: BEEeWEBARBEE _E _ZFTFH A
ST -RALEFEZLEHIE :

Year ended 31 May 2021 Year ended 31 May 2020
BE-E-_-FAA=+—-HLEE BE-_Z_ZFRA=+—BHLLFE
% of total  Average % of total ~ Average
revenue revenue revenue  revenue

No.of Revenue frompop pershow No.of Revenue from pop  per show
shows (HK$'000) concerts (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) concerts  (HK$'000)

ER7T 8BBEWL BRI BHEH
EgEEE H¥Y EREEE  WTH

& i Wz ARER K#E  RH e RKER Yo g5
2B (F&n) Bolk (FEx) ®HAE (FEL Eien (FHism)

Pop concerts RITEHEEE
Hong Kong i 1 1,551 61.8 38 107 10,322 34.6 96
PRC e 6 393 15.7 66 117 13,802 46.3 118
Macau R 3 110 4.4 37 37 4,801 16.1 130
Taiwan =01 15 456 18.1 30 5 495 1.7 99
Other Hith — — — — 3 385 1.2 128
Total revenue from KRB RIS 48

pop concerts 1B r Az 65 2,510 100.0 39 269 29,805 100.0 111

During the year ended 31 May 2021, most pop concerts were heldin HE-_ZT-—FH=+—HIEE " &
Hong Kong by local artists due to travel restrictions. As all concert tours A IRER G - KD RITS LS h AN E
were suspended during the year, the number of concert tours was not as 7 X ;A & & 22 3t - B R AT A ¥ 3EHE 18 & R
concentrated as the last couple of years. During the year, the Group HFRNE(Z X WKEESEHE ANBELK
provided services to (i) a male Hong Kong talk show for total of 10 shows Ffg#&E - FX  AEBAONRBEBETE
in Hong Kong, and (i) a Taiwanese band for 15 concert shows in Taiwan. #1035 &) BB O K8 H &) N & & L& 17

1585 BB 8 R M B R IE AR -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group
from other live events by the geographical location during the year ended
31 May 2021 with comparative figures for the year ended 31 May 2020:

Year ended 31 May 2021

BHEE @ Lo (8)

TERBINE=Z==FE=_—FHAA=+—HL
FEASERHWEBAES » B EMIBIHE
PESHK=HHEREE T _FF A
B=+—HILEFEZL&REE

Year ended 31 May 2020

BE-_Z-_-f1A=1+-HLEE BE-_T-_TFRA=+—HLLFE
% of total Average % of total  Average
revenue revenue revenue  revenue
No.of Revenue fromother pershow No.of Revenue from other per show
shows (HK$'000) live events (HK$'000) shows (HK$'000) live events (HK$'000)
HEM SHEH HEM BHED
REEH MWTEY BEEs WTEH
EH ki BAREH kB W  BUEE Y =
B (F#&R) Bok (F#&x) B (F#1) Bak (F&T)
Other live events H #1385 E
Hong Kong BB 1,084 5,989 62.8 6 565 6,745 46.2 12
PRC = 70 2,532 26.8 36 4 631 4.3 158
Macau SRS 9 991 104 110 209 7,222 49.5 35
Total revenue from KB EMIE 5
other live events EEM AW 1,163 9,512 100.0 8 778 14,598 100.0 19

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group continued to provide
services for various events in Hong Kong, China and Macau. Although a
lot of corporate events were either cancelled or rescheduled due to
COVID-19 in Hong Kong, the Group had involved in some long term
eguipment rentals in Hong Kong which were used for long terms window
display in a shopping mall. During the year, the Group also engaged in
some car shows and product launch events in China, resulting in an
increase of 301% in revenue compared to the year ended 31 May 2020.
However there was a significant decrease in other live events in Macau
during the year, but the average revenue per show increased by 214%
compared to the year ended 31 May 2020, due to more equipment
having been utilized.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE W Lo (8)

Cost of services

The following table sets out the components of the cost of services of the
Group during the year ended 31 May 2021 with comparative figures for
the year ended 31 May 2020:

Year ended 31 May 2021

AR 3 AR A<

TREIBE_T-_—FHA=+—HIE
FEAEERBRANERE D LBEEZ
B_BEAHA=T - HLEFEZHEREE:

Year ended 31 May 2020

Bz-2=--—-F% HE_T_TF
AA=Z+—-BLFE FA=+—BLEE
% of total % of total
cost of cost of
HK$'000 services HK$'000 services
1 B 7% 16 AR 7%
R4 PN
THExT HWEZL FAT SoNERaNsd
Depreciation e 19,200 55.1 19,560 46.6
Direct labour costs BHEY TR A 9,003 25.8 14,013 334
Subcontracting charges nEB 1,348 3.9 3,273 7.8
Freight and logistics expenses B & & Wi & 780 2.2 3,452 8.2
Cost of equipment and spare 38 18 & Fic 14 Bk 2%
parts 431 1.2 476 1.1
Rental expenses related to lease HAFA &% H 2
of equipment e 4,088 11.8 1,227 2.9
Total 4t 34,850 100.0 42,001 100.0
Depreciation ITE

Depreciation recognised under the cost of services of the Group is related
to the depreciation expenses for the visual display equipment of the
Group for the provision of its services. For the year ended 31 May 2021,
depreciation of visual display equipment represented approximately
55.1% of total cost of services (2020: approximately 46.6%).

Direct labour costs

Direct labour costs of the Group represent compensation and benefits
provided to the Group’s project managers, visual technicians, equipment
development and maintenance staff and warehouse keepers employed by
the Group. For the year ended 31 May 2021, direct labour costs
represented approximately 25.8% of total cost of services (2020:
approximately 33.4%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Subcontracting charges

Subcontracting charges of the Group primarily represent fees paid and
payable to the human resource company which provided us with workers
for installing and dismantling visual display equipment at pop concerts or
other live events in Hong Kong, the PRC and Macau. For the year ended
31 May 2021, subcontracting charges represented approximately 3.9%
of total cost of services (2020: approximately 7.8%).

Freight and logistics expenses

Freight and logistics expenses of the Group primarily represent
transportation expenses for delivering the Group’s visual display
equipment to or from its warehouses to the designated venues of pop
concerts and other live events or between different sites of pop concerts
and other live events. For the year ended 31 May 2021, freight and
logistics expenses represented approximately 2.2% of total cost of
services (2020: approximately 8.2%).

Cost of equipment and spare parts

Cost of equipment and spare parts of the Group represents the expenses
in relation to tools and consumables used for on-site installation and
maintenance, or cost relating to the equipment that the customer opt to
keep. For the year ended 31 May 2021, the cost of equipment and spare
parts represented approximately 1.2% of total cost of services (2020:
approximately 1.1%).

Rental expenses related to lease of equipment

Rental expenses of short-term leases in respect of equipment of the
Group primarily represent rental charges for visual display equipment
such as LED panels, projectors, video control units, and other equipment
that was required for the pop concerts or other live events in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC (i) where the Group’s own relevant equipment was
fully occupied at the particular time or (i) for cost effectiveness reason in
view of the logistics expenses or (iii) due to different types of equipment
which the Group does not own is being used. For the year ended 31 May
2021, rental expenses of short-term leases in respect of equipment
represented approximately 11.8% (2020: 2.9%) of total cost of services.

Gross (loss)/profit and gross (loss)/profit margin

Gross loss of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$22.5 million (2020: gross profit of approximately
HK$2.7 million), representing gross loss margin of approximately 182 %
(2020: gross profit margin of 6.1%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE W Lo (8)

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group mainly include administrative
staff costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental expenses of short-
term leases in respect of rental premises and others. The Group’s
administrative expenses decreased by approximately 48.5% from
approximately HK$26.4 million for the year ended 31 May 2020 to
approximately HK$13.6 million for the year ended 31 May 2021. The
decrease was mainly due to decrease in non-recurring professional service
fee in respect of the transfer of listing preparation of HK$7.2 million
incurred during year ended 31 May 2020, decrease in administrative staff
costs of HK$1 million and other miscellaneous expenses.

Finance costs, net

The finance (cost)/income, net of the Group mainly consists of interests
on bank borrowings which were all repayable within five years, interest
expenses on obligations under finance lease and interest on lease
liabilities. The Group’s finance costs increase by approximately 7.2%
from HK$0.5 million for the year ended 31 May 2020 to approximately
HK$0.54 million for the year ended 31 May 2021 which was mainly due
to the increase in bank borrowing.

Income tax credit

The Group is subject to income tax on an enterprise basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group
are domiciled and operate.

During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, all PRC subsidiaries of
the Company were subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of
25.0%.

The Hong Kong subsidiary of the Company was subject to Hong Kong
profit tax at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits during
the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020.

The Macau subsidiary of the Company was subject to Macau
complementary tax at the rate of 12.0% on the estimated assessable
income exceeding MOP600,000 during the year ended 31 May 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, no Hong Kong profits
tax, PRC corporate income tax and Macau complementary tax have been
provided for as the Group did not generate any estimated assessable
profit.

The effective income tax rate of the Group was 12.3% in the year ended
31 May 2021 (2020: 8.7%).

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s loss was approximately HK$35.1
million for the year ended 31 May 2021, representing an increase of
approximately HK$10.8 million as compared of approximately HK$24.3
million for the year ended 31 May 2020. The increase in loss for the year
ended 31 May 2021 was primarily attributable to (i) the significant
decrease in the number of shows and events engaged during the year
ended 31 May 2021; (i) increase in the equipment rental charges; and (iii)
the provision for impairment of trade receivables amount to HK$5.6
million.

Business Update

The business of the Group was severely affected by the pandemic during
the year ended 31 May 2021. The outbreak of COVID-19 have adversely
affected our business and our industry. Shows and events were forced to
postpone, reschedule or even cancel due to various epidemic prevention
reasons, such as social distancing order and quarantine order imposed by
the government, global travel restriction, closure of venues, etc, imposed
by local governments globally. The Group has tried to minimize the cost
of operation, such as no-pay leave for operating staffs in Hong Kong,
Macau and China and rent reduction request to all landlords.

In addition to fighting for survival, the Group has been proactively seeking
potential business opportunities and exploring the possibility to expand
the application of the Group'’s visual display solutions to industries other
than live events industry so as to broaden the sources of income of the
Group and enhance value to the shareholders. During the lockdown of
the entertainment business, the Group managed to explore new business
idea utilizing our existing visual display equipment and bringing it into the
TV/filming industry, the Group believes it will be a new business sector
with great potential.

In the view of our management, our business will be back on track and
even experience an explosive growth once the pandemic of COVID-19 is
over.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BHEE W Lo (8)

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group finances its operations primarily through cash generated from
operating activities, interest-bearing bank borrowings and finance leases.
The Group recorded net current liabilities of approximately HK$12.1
million as at 31 May 2021 (2020: net current assets approximately
HK$13.2 million).

As at 31 May 2021, the Group’s current ratio was approximately 0.55 (2020:
approximately 1.7) and the Group's gearing ratio calculated based on the
total debt at the end of the year divided by total equity at the end of the
year was approximately 21.2% (2020: approximately 6.8%).

As at 31 May 2021, the maximum limit of the banking facilities available
to the Group was amounted to HK$10 million (2020: HK$4.4 million).
The bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, repayable
within eight year or on demand and interest-bearing from 2.75% to 3.75%
per annum (2020: 5.5% to 5.9% per annum).

As at 31 May 2021, the capital structure of the Group consisted of equity
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$71 million,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group during
the year ended 31 May 2021.

Foreign Currency Exposure Risks

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to certain purchases with United States dollars (“US$”) and
Macau Patacas (“MOP”) and certain sales with Renminbi (“RMB”).
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the group entities’ functional currency. The Group however did not
engage in any derivatives agreements and did not commit to any financial
instrument to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the year ended
31 May 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Treasury Policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 May 2021. The Group strives to
reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments
and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to
ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 May 2021, the Group had a total capital commitment of

approximately HK$1.5 million (2020: HK$2.1 million), mainly comprising
the related contracts of capital expenditure for visual display equipment.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 May 2021, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 May 2021, the Group did not have any pledged short-term bank

deposits as security for the Group’s banking facilities (2020: approximately
HK$3.0 million).
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Corporate Governance Report
TEREB®RSE

The Board is committed to establish and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance practices.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the "CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors
strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate governance
practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding
and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this report, except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, the Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
set out in the CG Code. Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates
that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting
Dennis is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. In
view of Mr. Yeung’s role in day-to-day operations and management of
the Group since April 2009, the Board believes that it is in the best
interest of the Group to have Mr. Yeung taking up both roles for effective
management and business development. Therefore, the Directors
consider that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
is appropriate in such circumstance and the Board is of the view that this
management structure is effective for the Group’s operations and
sufficient checks and balances are in place.

Board of Directors

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s
overall strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of
management performance. The management is delegated with the
authority and responsibility by the Board for the management and
administration of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees of the Company. Further
details of the Board committees are set out below in this report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company'’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day to
day management of the Company which is delegated to the
management. To this end, monthly financial and operational information
are provided to the Board for assessing the performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The management is responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group and to
provide the Board with updates in a timely manner, giving an assessment
of the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board to
discharge its duties.

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code,
which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

() to review and monitor the Group’'s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

(e)  to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
Alls /\— \Ai
5 /0

TEERWmE (B

Board Composition

The Board comprises five Directors, two of whom are executive Directors
and the other three are independent non-executive Directors. Details of
their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Kai Sing

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun

Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has achieved
an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The composition of the
Board satisfies the requirements of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules. There are three independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of them has accounting professional qualification. With more
than one-third of the members of the Board are independent non-
executive Directors, the Board has a fairly strong independence element
in terms of its composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment on
issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 75 to 80 of this
annual report. There are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), on 19 May 2017 with delegated powers for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of the committees of
the Company has been established with written terms of reference.

The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of association
(the "Articles”). The chairman of the Board also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of the executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular Board
meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before convening the
Board meeting. For all other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. All other schedules and the relevant information
of each Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to
the management whenever necessary.
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During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Company held six Board
meetings, four Audit Committee meetings, two Remuneration Committee
meetings and one Nomination Committee meetings. All minutes of the
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees were recorded in
sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and the decisions
reached. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows:
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Attendance/Number of meetings

HERE EEETRY
Board
Meeting Audit Remuneration Nomination General
(Note 1) Committee Committee  Committee meeting
Ezee3
Name of Directors EEpg (fE1) BREES FHMZEEE REZEE BKRRAE
Executive Directors: HITESE:
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis GRS E 6/6 — — 17 1/1
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFEE 4/6 — — — 171
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Li Kai Sing TRURLE 6/6 4/4 212 171 17
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun SRERE 6/6 4/4 212 1 1”n
Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis BENLLT 6/6 4/4 212 — 171

Note 1: Include a Board meeting where the Chairman met Non-executive and Independent

Non-Executive Directors in the absence of the Executive Directors and management.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising from
corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,
accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance. At least 14 days' notice should be given for a
regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters

considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company Secretary
at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company. The appointment letter of each of
the independent non-executive Directors is for a term of three years,
which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are
subject to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-
election provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on page 59 of this
annual report.

Directors’ Continuous Training and Professional
Development

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated in
continuous professional development by attending training courses or
reading relevant materials on the topics related to corporate governance
and regulations. Records of the training received by the respective
Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent non-executive Directors are experienced professionals
with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance, industry
knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge and
experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an important
function of advising the senior management on strategy development
and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in financial and other
mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances
for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the Company as a
whole; and independent non-executive Directors will participate in the
Company’s various committees including the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his/her independence. The Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Executive Directors

The chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is also
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice and is responsible for the overall
corporate management of the business development strategies of the
Group, The executive Directors are responsible for the implementation of
the business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board and is
accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group. These
functions and responsibilities are currently being shared by the
management team.
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Board Committee

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 19 May 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the
authority, duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available
on both the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Li Kai Sing, Mr. Ma Tsz Chun and Ms. Loh Lai Ping
Phillis. Mr. Li Kai Sing is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the policies of
the Group and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
the Board. The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Audit Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company'’s website.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"), and recommended the Board re-appoint PwC as the Company’s
auditors in the financial year ending 31 May 2022, which is subject to the
approval of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 May 2021.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least four times a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors’
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings and
Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 of this annual report.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited

TEERRSE (B)

EEZEE

ERERE®

NARRIEGEM E 8 BI85 5.28 & 5.29 16 R
T tFRAAt+tNBRIEREZES
HEEEEREHE -RBEEZRZESNE
B BREREAFBHNEZPBRESE TR
GEM#B Uk R AN R Bl 8 vk & 5 o

EREECH=-RBYUFRTESF(AIFR
EELE BREEEREBFLLDIAMK-
FRALEERBREEGIRE -

ERZESZIEREAEBREEAHEALN
SR HEREF RBREERAIPESE
RGN BERM 2 BI RS ARPHESS
EERBEZOMIE - BT KR ET A S B AR
TETEESHRENEMBEREET &
NEBEZEZESREFBEN IR ESHEY
RGEMAuE R AR N E AL &R -

EiZE B 2= MY % BT 5 B & Ak B e 8
FERik B AN B AT ([ 28 SR KB 25T
MEBMDBLENEN TREESE
HEREEOBKESIMERSMALRAR A
BE_Z _—_FhA=+—HLUEKEE
MIZEBAE HEREERRAFAG LB
BREE - BEXZECEEHMAEEE
25 =2 = =S R = See (S| 4R [ (6 s
BERE IS REK -

RIEERMNBESE EXZEeCRE
ELEFROTNARIINEZKMEERS
PVEBERTAREERBRA—XREH -

BRITERZESERRBNEFEEED
ailaTﬁIJ%CE/\\$¢¥&%z1 EREMEIEH
REREZHFRN] -

—E-—&E53f 25



26

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

XeamE (8

TEE

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, which comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Tsz Chun, Mr. Li Kai
Sing and Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis. Mr. Ma Tsz Chun is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors regarding the
policy and structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (b) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and (d) considering and
approving the grant of share options to eligible participants pursuant to
the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the sole shareholder of
the Company on 19 May 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The full
terms of reference setting out details of duties of the Remuneration
Committee is available on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also looks
into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities, performance
and the results of the Group in determining the exact level of
remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 of this annual
report.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

¥FMEES

R AR B GEM _E 7 AR A1 B 8% 15 6% 37 3 B
ZEe H="R2BUFAGTEFTHEISFHE
EE FRALEEREBFLL)EK-F
BEREESFHEEETRE -

FMZEeNIEZREEE(ETRRY):
@R AEE2EBEELaRERABNE
Mﬁ%& B DA K & I TE B BN B SR SR S IE
ANEEZEHENEF RMESIELHHEBRRE
Z O AEBREERaREEAENH
WEBMEESELHRBES QORI R
HELEESENARERERE®MmHIE
MEEBEFTMAR: ROBRBEERARRZ
E—+tFRATNEBARARRE—REE K
HEBE BRER S ([BRERE])  ZE
Rt fEREER2EER D BRE- - §7
FMEZESREFBN BB ESRE TR
GEM#Buh R AR Bk &5 -

FNEZEERBRSEMGELEETESRH
Mo RXRBMEEEEBEAELN BE B
F RERAGE XEETRESTZHE
IFF B K

REFHZEENRESRE BFRED

BIT—RG#F -

BOFNEZES@RZRBREFEED
aila]?ﬂ%@ﬁ(‘$¢#& NEZNREFMEIEH
REREZHFRRN] -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERRSE (B)

Senior Management’s remuneration SREEEMN F M

Senior Management’s remuneration payment of the Group for theyear #HE-_"ZT-—FFHFA=+—HItFEE ' K

ended 31 May 2021 falls within the following band: SRR EEEBNFMINEATEHER :
Number of
individuals

HK$ BT A

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 021,000,000/ 7T 4

Remuneration policy ¥ B BUR

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior AEFBEERLSREEEONETHBSTHE

management was based on their experience, level of responsibility and
general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, namely Mr.
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Li Kai Sing and Mr. Ma Tsz Chun. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of reference
setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website and the
Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting can be called by the member of the Nomination Committee any
time when it is necessary.
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Nomination Procedures:

1.

The secretary should give the nomination committee member a
membership list, listing out the current board members’ name,
position & duties at the organization.

Each year, the nominating committee is to evaluate current board
members to assess whether they are performing satisfactorily and
should be considered for re-election. Evaluations may be performed
by a subset of the nominating committee or an independent third
party to ensure the fairness.

Next step is to receive recommendations for new board members
from management or current board members. The nomination
committee should review the resumes of potential candidates,
assessing their skills and experience to determine if they meet
qualifications for the position. In reviewing candidate profiles, the
committee should also consider criteria that includes:

o Proven leadership

o Previous board experience

o Knowledge and experience

. Diversity-including age, gender, ethnicity, race, disabilities,
geography

o Experience with large and complex organization

. Skillset-including finance, legal, auditing, government affairs,
public relations, community experience, and knowledge of
the organizations

o In case of nomination for independent non-executive
directors, should consider why the candidate to be
independent (should refer to relevant Listing Rules for
independence)

Give a list of candidates to the full committee for discussion and
review.

28  In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

REERF:

8

Miﬁﬁh%éﬂaﬁﬁkfﬁé%
CHPSRBREEEEREMS
%@%W%%%&%ﬁ°

REZECEBFFRBACTEFTEX
B UHEREROZERBERS
EEXERET - FETHRERZE
NARBYE =TT UEERA
IEtE o

o

HERREAZBeNERERBXRT
EEeXEBFENHNETERBESR
ER - REZBEeRSEMNEEREA
W%F BRERE R E RN
BEERERANAMUEREZER R
BERRENEER ZRESNEREZS

BERE B

s EFEHREEN

s BREFELR

s HBENMER

e SREE—DEFE KR
Rik B Bk - 8

. EABRGAABOTHCE

. HE— BERB LB B
BRES DRBE HEER

SEEEPAE

e MARBBUIFMITES AR
ZRIREANBBLRRE(EZR
EHRRNE BB RO

mMEREE kS XK
L\u—fuﬂﬂ&%ﬁ‘a

BABEMN



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

5. The committee then makes contact with each candidate to make
an assessment for a high level of personal and professional integrity,
as well as to assess their level of commitment to the organization,
and availability. This is often done by assigning one member of the
nominating committee to one candidate, who will bring a candidate
summary with recommendations back to the full committee.
Additional interviews by the nominating committee and the CEO
may be necessary to ensure due diligence interviews may be
conducted with the assistance of a third party.

6.  The committee forms a final slate of recommended candidates to
the full board for formal approval. Nominees should not be present
at this meeting to allow for open discussion by the board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as well as
discussing matters regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors’ attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 of this annual
report.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for ensuring
that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each financial year
are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, the
financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance and the applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 May 2021, the Board has adopted appropriate and
consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for maintaining
proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the
state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the
Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern are
disclosed in note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities. The statement of auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 89 of this annual report.

Auditor's Remuneration

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the remuneration for the audit
service provided by the Company’s auditor to the Group was
HK$900,000.

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Company’s auditor did not
provide any non-audit service to the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors review the Group’s corporate governance policies and
compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with the
“comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report which is
or will be included in the annual reports of the Company.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with the
requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as below:

The Board diversity policy of the Company specifies that in designing the
composition the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates
for the Board will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Company discloses the composition of the Board in corporate
governance report every year and the Nomination Committee oversees
the implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018 which
sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may propose

a dividend.

The Board will account for the following factors when considering the
payment of dividends:

a.  The general financial condition of the Group;

b.  The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

C. The future cash requirements and availability;

d.  Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

e.  The general market conditions; and

U5 Any other factor that the Board deem appropriate.
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Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board’s determination that the same would
be in the best interests of the Group and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws, rules
and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made
specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with
the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31 May 2021 and up to
the date of this annual report.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for separate
issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put forward at
shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on
the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on 2
November 2021.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

R IR B R B IR KR 5 /] R 2K Bz B
HEFTERTEREINAAEERAR
BROBERBREMNRERDAEE I &
& B A BB 3 A & IR B S A fAE A
ERCRAUEERARARAREBEIZA
AIFTARIR -

4
7
23

ulj gl

ESETESRS

RNRATDERMGEM 48 B E5.4816 E 5
SEIEIEFREARAEBEHRESETIRFRS
SR ([HRSFER)) - KAESELR
TEARB AR EHEREBESERNE
E-ZE-—FFRA=+—"BIBEAEER
EEAFHRAPETRTED -

HEEREE

ARRBONEBRRRFFEER FHl =
BERRBFASHEMBRRAG ERR
BB W R 2 EE R o

ARBRERENBERAERZNSTFR
EHBARER - RIBEGEMEMHRR - AER
BERARELRENRBRBARET A E
TRR- BREERERERRAG R RE
TIB R AR B Ko B 32 A 48 s

ARFBBERSARRER I BREE S
BERE CEMFEEEERE TEBR
RAERHEABAERLEL > R APE
¥ o

HERRNBRRAE

ARAMNEERREFASER_T——
e e = =



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Shareholders’ Rights

(a)

(b)

(9]

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting
on requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to the
operations and management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the Company
Secretary by a written requisition. Shareholders who wish to put
forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary general
meeting by following the procedures set out in “Convening of an
extraordinary general meeting on requisition by shareholders”
above.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the extent
such information is publicly available to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for forwarding communications relating to
matters within the Board's purview to the executive Directors of the
Company, communications relating to matters within a Board
committee’s area of responsibility to the chairman of the
appropriate committee, and communication relating to ordinary
business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and consumer
complaints, to the appropriate management of the Company, in
writing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.

TEERRSE (B)

R R A

(a)

(b)

(o)
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Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a
key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open
and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the Company
(http://www.intechproductions.com) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising the
Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board
policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable
laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for
facilitating communications among Directors as well as with management.

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, as
its Company Secretary. Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, chairman of the
Board, executive director and chief executive officer of the Company, is
the primary contact person whom Ms. Leung Yin Fai can contact.

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Group's systems of risk management and internal
control include a defined management structure with limits of authority,
which is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.
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An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established. The
division/department head of each core operating division/department is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such division/
department within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and
the Board together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed to various
types of risks. During the year ended 31 May 2021, the following
principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
[ e 9B 35 TERRE

TEERRSE (B)
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Strategic Risks
competition risk, reputation risk

B RS 2 B

Operational Risks

2ER R EBOfE TR TH ERMRESPE

Financial Risks

B 15 R B2 nBEERAR  EERR  FEER

Compliance Risks

BT BROGRM  REFRMETP @K 55 SRR -

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste; market

BEER

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk

+ SN EE L

i AR L B2

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of listing rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances

& R E R HBXZE2NEEABNAR

R A B E B&

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the Group
and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the risk
identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate management
processes as well as to safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels
of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others, (i)
an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and (ii)
an annual review of the implementation of the risk management plans
and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.

8 <7 B 2 A B R0 E B R B
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TEE

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of both design and implementation
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board.

The Company has hired an internal audit manager to review the Group's
system of internal controls and risk management annually and further
enhance the Group's internal control and risk management systems as
appropriate.

Code of Conduct and Handling of Inside
Information

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal and
professional standards of the Directors and employees of the Group. In
addition to the various policies adopted and implemented by the Group
imposing certain conduct requirements on Directors and employees, every
employee is required to undertake to adhere to the Group’s Code of
Conduct, and is expected to achieve the highest standards of behavior
including avoiding conflict of interest, discrimination or harassment and
bribery and corruption. Employees are required to report any
noncompliance with the Code of Conduct to management.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information published by the Securities and Futures Commission
and the GEM Listing Rules, the Group has an obligation to disclose any
inside information as soon as practicable after such information has come
to the knowledge of the Board. The Company has developed its
disclosure policy which provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

BE_T_—SFAA=1Tt—RHILtFE" %

ZEEBERZES RIAAKERR
BERAMEZRGORTREBKR
EMAEREERER BRY% %@&é
RIS MERASEN S AEEZR
MEmEREDEERENER BTE
R X 48 B FWEE&EE LTI mE - &'
RRBERNETERBREIMERER-

AAREEZF - EANRERCETFTERN
AEENABEELRKREERRS & —
FNEAEBMAABEERRAREE X4
(@A) »

TRATJARAINESEE

AEEBRIEASEEENEENER
BEAREXEA -BAKERARETH
ZEBRKAEZREERMNE TITREX
v REEAARGEBRETAKEEITRST
8 YEHEINZRSTARE(BRERLHN
2EHR ERIBELRBEREES) -EE
ARERERESEMNIETTATRNE
e

RIBEBEOFENEZSRPEGD - &
SEHMEEBERZRERMZIARTHES
BEHESIMGEMETRE REBAEB
REZEANTERENREERBRER
BEEMNABES -ARAEREERE
BE REARREE TRAE =SRER
ErHARERHEEHAREERZTEN &
REEREROEEAN KBS -AR
ACEREERERF UBEREBELRE
REEDRNERANTHES -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TrERERHmE (&

In addition, if there occurs any significant risk events, the Group will  [tho) + ME AR EARBREE - AEE
report such risk events to the relevant authorities so that appropriate REME RE®REMEERSZH NERE
decisions and measures can be made by the Group in a timely manner to  [E 8¢ %9 & B {E H 8 & B9 R & N 75 1 DA JE ¥

deal with such risk events. BERKER-
Looking Forward RBERR

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standardson ZAEEFEERBEEFNEDEERZE

a timely basis and the Board endeavours to take the necessary actionsto MEZEE @ ¥ i8 NI WM N EE i UBRER
ensure compliance with the required practices and standards including & EEHELIZE  BELES AT
the provisions of the CG Code. 183 »
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

HERERERE

1B 15

About This Report

Purpose and Objectives

This is the 5th Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (“ESG
Report”) of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), which aims to give its
stakeholders a better understanding of its visions, strategies and
implementation of sustainability initiatives that be of interest to its various
stakeholders.

Reporting Period and Scope

The reporting period for this ESG report is from 1 June 2020 to 31 May
2021, and the scope of this ESG Report covers the businesses in Hong
Kong, Macau, and the PRC for the reporting period.

Reporting Standard

The report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set out in Appendix
20 of the GEM Listing Rules with contents that comply with the disclosure
requirements and principles under the Guide.

Reporting Principles

The Report is prepared and presented based on the following reporting
principles:

o Materiality: Key ESG issues of the Group were identified through
materiality assessment and stakeholder engagement, which has
been disclosed in the ESG Report.

° Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion
factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy consumption
(where applicable) has been disclosed in the ESG Report.

o Balanced: The ESG Report has provided an unbiased picture of the
Group's performance and has not avoided any selections, omissions
or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a
decision or judgment by the readers.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

BARA®RE
BHKE&E

7K %R % /A In Technical Productions Holdings
Limited ([ A AT |- ZR AW E Q7 5H
(AEBDEAMRE w2 kE8(R
B HEarERDBE(BR HLEREAR
BE]) EEFEFOHEETHREBES K
MERERNDEREBNAFEZEREEDN
BB -

BEHREE

AREBE HEREARENBRERLE-Z
—EFEANA—BHBEE-_—FRA=1+—
A MARE e kEARENBERE
HREPAREE  BPFIRPEMELRS-

& %R

AR & TR 4% GEM £ T AR BRI BT $5% 20 P & 3R
B-HekERBEESI(ESDREE K
BRNEHESIETHRERE LR -

BERA

ABETDRBATRERUBHEZT

e EZW: - FREEUFERFENHEZR
HEENARENEIZRR HERE
AEE YERRR -HE@RER

SPREAHESZE -

o Ef: EEARMEHB LR
(@ ) MR ~ Tk ~ RR & at
BETANUKRMERNESRRZRIREN

EHERRR HEREARETH
%O
e FH RR HEREABRETRET

FM2HRAKENRE BEREA
EETREMYEEBE RENHAEHH

Be &

EEE BRI EHRA -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE -HFRERWMST(E)

o Consistency: The ESG Report should present information on a
consistent basis that stakeholders can analyze and evaluate changes
in performance over time. The Group will disclose if there are any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaning comparison in its subsequent Report.

Approval

To the best of knowledge, belief and information of the board of
directors of the Company (the “Board”), the Report addresses all relevant
material issues and fairly presents the ESG performance of the Group. The
Board confirms that it has reviewed and approved the Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group strives to maintain supporting and trusting relationships with
its stakeholders. Through diversified communication channels, the Group
can effectively understand and respond to the expectations and
requirements of different stakeholders. The following table summarises
the main expectations and concerns of our key stakeholders and the
corresponding management responses.
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Stakeholders
&

Expectations and Requirements

HEREXR

Communication Channels

Investors and Shareholders

° Corporate Governance
° Returns
o Company Values

o Annual General Meetings

° Announcements and Circulars
. Financial Reports

o ESG Reports

BEERRR S Lo - BREBFAE
e QRAEA o HiBHE
e RE HEgREARME
Suppliers o Code of Conduct o Company Website
o Assessment Criteria o Emails
o Phone calls and Meetings
HEn e  1IRSFRI NS i
. HFiHRA . EH
- EEREH
Customers o Service and Product Quality o Company Website
o Customer Services o Emails
o Phone calls and Meetings
S e RBREmES NS F
s  EFR® e EH
e TEHEhEZ
Government o Compliance o Notices
° Equality of Employments o Emails
o Occupational Safety o ESG Report
BF e AR e  BA
e RERETE e EBH
e BEZZE e RE HB8RER/ERE
Employees o Compensation o Trainings
o Occupational Health and Safety ° Internal Meetings
o Career Development o Emails and Notices
®E e B o
e BERREZR e REEH
e BEHER o EBMRBEH
Community o Information Transparency o Company Website
° Announcements
o) s [FERERE e  RAIBUL

Rty A0S
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Environmental Protection

The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection and
also implements sustainable initiatives in areas such as energy saving,
water saving, waste management, air quality management into its daily
operations so as to minimize the use of resources and reduce various
emissions. The Group complied with applicable laws and regulations,
including the Environmental Protection Law of PRC and Guideline on the
Applicability of the Noise Control Ordinance in Hong Kong.

Emissions

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group is principally engaged in providing visual display solution,
we consume limited natural resources to operate and therefore
have a relatively low environmental impact, furthermore, the Group
does not produce significant volume of hazardous waste from the
daily business process. The major wastes are solid non-hazardous
wastes such as office paper generated from the Group’s operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group implemented a number of measures to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions in order to alleviate the impacts to the
environment. The Group also encourages employees to maximize
the use of electronic communication and carry out general
discussions and communication through long-distance telephone
calls or other online communication tools in order to reduce non-
essential business trips and avoid increasing the pollutants emitted
by the use of transportation.

The major sources of air and greenhouse gas (GHG) emission that
the Group associated are energy consumptions in regard to the
purchased electricity used in the Group’s offices and daily operation.

The total GHG generated by the Group during the reported period
ended 31 May 2021 were 54,287 Kg CO,-eq, comprising direct
emission from motor vehicle gasoline, indirect emission from
purchased electricity and other indirect emission from fresh water
usage.
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Use of Resource

The Group is committed to conserving resources for the purposes
of protecting the environment and enhancing operation efficiency.
To pursue the Group’s commitment of environmental protection,
the Group has implemented multiple measures in enhancing energy
efficiency, minimizing the use of paper, reducing water and energy
consumption and driving behavioural changes of employees.
Through active monitoring and managing the use of resources, the
Group aims to reduce the Group’s operating costs as well as our
carbon footprint.

The following procedures and operation guideline were designed to
conserve resources:

Energy

o Room lights and air conditioners must be switched off when
they are not in use.

o Use of natural light is maximized as far as practical.

° Use separate light switches for different light zones.

o Air-conditioner filter and fan coil are cleaned regularly.

Water
° Water taps are constantly checked to avoid the water dipping.

o Leakage tests on concealing piping and checking for
overflowing tanks are regularly carried out.

Other Office Consumable
° Stationaries are distributed on a needed basis and reusable
stationaries are employed.

o Other than formal documents, paperless working environment
is promoted in the Group.

o Recycled papers are encouraged to be used whenever possible
when photocopy for internal documentation.

o Used ink cartridges are either recycled through public recycle
bin or collected by suppliers.
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The Environmental and Natural Resources RERAAER
e The nature of the Group's business does not involve in any s AEEXBUERNSIRERER
significant impacts on the environmental and natural AREBREEFWNERTE -&F
resources. The relevant principles and policies on managing 2 HER N B R R B A9 A8 B R Al &%
emission and use of resources are already disclosed above. BERER EXHIHEE -
lll. Environmental Performance Indicator n. RBENRIEE
In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out by the Stock BIEBMTHAHEES T2 REAHR
Exchange, the data of the “Emission” and “Use of Resource” of the £Ee AEBER RS B HE A HE R
Group during the reporting period as follows. MIRTERER I SEDOT -
Emission B
Year ended 31  Year ended 31
Energy use and emission BE R 55 A R HE B Units May 2021 May 2020
BE BHE
—EZ-—F —T_TF
EA=+—-HBH ®HA=+—H
By IHEE IEFE
Electricity £ kWh 63,607 57,409
T F B
Intensity of energy IR E kWh/employee 848 630
TR BB
Motor Vehicle Gasoline P ) L 4,228 4,240
9'_|_
Intensity of energy BEREE L/employee 56 46
A RE
GHG BE R Kg CO,-eq 54,287 66,662
Fr_ftRES
Intensity of GHG RERBEE Kg CO,-eq/employee 724 733
FrR-_GREE
(==

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited =& = —FF3} 43



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
B LR R E R RE ()

44

Use of Resource

BIRERA

Year ended 31  Year ended 31

The Group recognizes the Group’s success and market leadership
are closely linked to the support from our dedicated, hard-working
and task-oriented employees. The Groups recognizes that
employees are the Group’s most valuable assets and vital to
achieving the Group's sustainability and long-term growth.

The Group strictly abide by all applicable laws and regulations in
locations where it operates, including but not limited to the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on Protection of
Minors of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law of Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of
China” and Employment Ordinance (Cap 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). We forbade all kinds of non-compliance employment, forced
labour and child labour. During the reporting period, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance concerning
employment-related laws and regulations in all area of operation.

The Group is also committed to safeguarding the legitimate rights
and interests of employees, maintaining their physical and mental
health and providing various benefit, in addition to providing vast
opportunities of career development for every employee, striving to
match employee’s personal and business development goals of the
Group through a comprehensive training system, effective incentive
mechanism and fair competition platform, so that the mutual
benefits for employees and the enterprise can be achieved.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

Resource use EREHR Units May 2021 May 2020
BHZE E%i
= %:E — qi — 7 — $
EA=+—H ®E=+—H
BAL ItFEE IEFE
Water 7K m? 394 905
Intensity of water consumption F/KZE m*/employee 5 10
SNHKIEE
Social =
Employment and Labour Practice BEERZEIER

AEERR AEENRY LTS E
S EEFEENER  FHTHE
RMEBELLETHXRKEERE - K
SERS EENASBEREENE
E UAKERERRABERENE
Fo

AEBBRBTEEMEMNAAE
RAERNER  BRETRRC(FEA
REMBEEHARZE) (PEARHK
MESEE) (PEARKFMBERK
FAREER) (PEARKFMBERE
mHRE) RKBREGEHD) (BB EDFH
578) - RMPELSEHERER BE
BIRET -RESHE AKEY
THENRFELEEBEEMNERER
RIERBBEERERNER -

AEBABROREBEEIMNE AR
HEEIMNSLERER RHSER
Ao RAEAS—E TRHEERDE
XEREKe ABTEMNBIBR-
ERHBBEE R AEHRESFTEE B
NEBEIRmARAEECEEREZ
HEE BREIECENE AR -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEgRELWRS (B)

Employment Practice

The Group is committed to build a harmonious working atmosphere
for employees through encouraging mutual respect which
ultimately promotes work creativity, flexibility and commitment.

As at 31 May 2021, the Group had 75 (2020: 91) employees. In
order to cope with the continuously growing of business scale, the
Group acquires talents from different aspects and backgrounds to
join the Group's globalized team. The Group strictly complies with
the relevant laws and regulations in the Group’s employment
process, such as recruitment, dismissal, promotion and setting up of
remuneration packages of employees regardless of where the
Group operates. The legitimate rights and interests of employees
are protected in accordance with laws and regulations.

Employment

o The Group attaches great importance to the basic rights and
interests of the employees, the entering into of employment
contracts with all employees, and the provision of relevant
social insurances and employee’s compensation insurance and
medical insurance to all employees.

o The Group is an equal opportunities employer, committed to
eliminating sex, age, race, disability and religious
discrimination in employment and emphasizing on the
performance and experience of the staffs in promotion or
recruitment. A fair and structural staff performance
assessment is set for making promotion and salary increment
decisions. Staff appraisal will be conducted annually to assess
work performance.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare noted in year ended
31 May 2021.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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The following table sets out the workforce by gender, employment
type, age group and geographical region and as at 31 May 2021
and the employee turnover rate by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region for the year ended 31 May 2021:

Workforce Employee turnover
Headcount rate%
BEHBAH BEERKEY
Gender 5l
Male S5 68 22.0
Female peg 7 428
Employment type & & 18 Al
Administrative staff THREER 7 28.5
Operation staff EiEREE 68 23.5
Age group FHe A Bl
30 and below 30m AT 29 34.4
31-40 31540 5% 36 13.8
41-50 4155 -50% 8 37.5
Above 50 503 A 2 —
Geographical region b 32 [ 15
Hong Kong &5 {1 18.1
PRC 1 54 20.3
Macau B P 10 50
Health and Safety #E R EL %
e The Group is dedicated to providing a healthy and safe s XAEEBNAEREESRME—ER

BEZ2M TSR - RIESHM
HEBEREEERSARER
BREENERRA - AR E A
IR E A %ﬁ;‘f@&/ﬂﬁ%ﬂﬂxﬁ
BEREFareEE 8FEeT
BEE’\\(E?JEEJ\E,\%DIE&%FBE
AR RABE T 2 MR ERA)D
(BEABEDIES09E) - FLE
iR AVARES ARy S V]

workplace to its employees. The promotion of occupational
and health measures at workplace are regarded as essential
to our businesses and operations of the Group. The Group
committed to undertaking various occupational health and
safety measures to relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Law of People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap 509 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Appropriate occupational and health

manuals relevant to the Group’s businesses are adopted by
the core business units. Risk assessments of workstations are
conducted constantly to identify and assess the risks to the
safety and health of the employees, and to decide whether
existing measures are adequate.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEgRELWRS (B)

First aid kits are located at convenient locations and are
properly maintained in the office, workshop(s) and
warehouse(s).

Workplace safety posters were display at prominent location
in the warehouse(s) of the Group to remind the staff of
safety.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards noted in year 2020/21.

The following table sets out the number and rate of work-related
fatalities of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2021:

e MRHMRE ERREEFEARF
muﬁﬂﬁémﬁ ¥ &= #

%

e RAKBEREMNBRUERMT
ESEMZE2B% REITEAR

EBRE -

R-FB_F/—_—5F HRERSE
RERLETHERERRERERR
BECENEBEIEREMR -

TRENBE_F-_—FHA=+—
BEFEAEERIEBERMETH
ABR &

Headcount Rate

AR b=

Work-related fatalities

RITEREMmET

For the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group has not incurred any
lost days due to work injury.

Development and Training

The Group believes that training is an important path to
improve the overall work quality and offer comprehensive
development to the employees. The Group encourages our
employees to attend external or internal training courses to
enhance their competence and job-related knowledge.

Experienced/Senior employees will provide supervision to the
newcomers/subordinates in order to enhance communication
and team spirits within the Group, and to improve their
technical skills and managerial capability.

== E = — B U5
B AEBUTERITEMBERIIER
g o

B K15
s AFAEERA/BIIRRESBRIE
E%&EEAh#%E%EWE
B -AEEZBHEERES M
ﬁl\ uBZJZWa‘Biu FIFRIZ A DN sR 1 5
BVBE T M T YEARRA AN -
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The following table sets out the percentage of employees trained TxREWWAEFBFHEE_ZE_-_—FHA

by gender and employment type and the average training hours =+ —HILFERERNRIERERE

completed per employee by gender and employment type of the PHZHNEEB DL MIZMER RIERE

Group for the year ended 31 May 2021: HAESSHEBREEZEKZ I FEH
iSE g

Percentage of  Average training hours
employees trained completed per employee

BEEETAZIN

ZIEEBS L 15 B 8
% Hour
Botk S35
Gender il
Male B 3 3
Female pegis 0 0
Employment type EELER
Administrative staff THREER 14.3 3
Operation staff 2iERE 1.5 1.5
Labour Standard BT
e The Group respects human rights and has a zero-tolerance s XEEEEARILEHEMRBRGLE
policy towards the employment of forced labour and child IREIRDMERZRBE - AR
labour. Upon joining the Group, each staff is required to fill in rEER BREIAERE 0
a recruitment form. Should the staff provide false identity or BEXE - WMEIRHEBRS M
false personal particulars, he/she would be considered to have SEBRBEAELR  BHEEAERE
committed serious breach of the Group's rules and regulations 2 [N 5 B ) AR B B A6 B 3z 37 B
and his/her employment would be terminated immediately. RIEEEAE -
There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations HE-ZE-_—4FAA=+—AHALHF
relating to preventing child and forced labour noted in year ended E-HEEREENELERAEIRR
31 May 2021. 85 TV R BE R ROER -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEgRELWRS (B)

Operating Practice

Supply Chain Management

The goods from the suppliers must be checked by the Group’s
qualified engineer for product quality and safety and will be
stored in our warehouse.

All parts suppliers of our electronic equipment must comply
with national or international safety standard.

If the suppliers fail to maintain the safety standard of their
products, the Group will eliminate the aforesaid supplier from

the approved supplier list.

Annual supplier evaluation will be conduct by management.

Product Responsibility

The Group poses a fair marketing concept that commits not
making dishonest allegation of our competitors in order to
mislead the customers during their decision-making.
Moreover, the Group would not acquire confidential
information of a competitor via espionage, the subordination
of the competitor’'s employees or through any other improper
means.

The Group has committed to supply the goods and services
that meet the reasonable expectations of our customers. We
provide customers with effective mechanism to lodge
complaints and manage such complaints with due care.
Besides, the Group respects the confidentiality of our
customers and their commercial information. We do not
disclose such information to protect their privacy.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations

relating to health,

safety, advertising, bid-rigging and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress noted in year ended 31 May 2021.

Privacy Protection

The Group strictly complied with The Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap 486 of Laws of Hong Kong)

The Group committed to upholding intellectual property
rights. All employees were educated and expected to protect
intellectual property rights and avoid any infringement.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complied with applicable laws and
regulations in relation to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering, including but not limited to the Laws
of Anti Competition of the People’s Republic of China, the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China and Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group refuses bribery, corruption, extortion and money
laundering activities. Employees shall report any misconduct
to its manager. A whistle-blowing email has been setup for
reporting such incidents and senior management will be
responsible for investigation if deem necessary.

The Group is listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and
has strict guidelines for directors and senior management for
any disclosure of conflict of interest. Besides, directors or
senior management are required to take certain hours of
training each year.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering noted in
year ended 31 May 2021.

COMMUNITY

Community Investment

Social responsibility is one of the Group’s cultures. We are
committed to striving for the betterment of society and hold
strongly the belief that a business organization should not
detach itself from its social responsibility.

The Group encourage its employee to participate in voluntary
activities in order to give back to the society and people in
need.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEgRELWRS (B)

Index to the ESG Reporting Guide (RE - HEBREBREEIDRER

E]
Area: Environmental #E  RIE
Disclosure Indicator Section
BREERS =4}
A1: Emissions General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Emission
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

1 BER — R R EHABERKRERBEENR  MAKELHEEES - HERY
FEREEREYNELESTN  QEE: kb)E
THETABEAZENHBZZRRMNNE
¥ e

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emission

Al.1 HERR W) 1E KR K 4B B HE PR o e

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where  Environmental
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production Performance
volume, per facility) Indicator

A1.2 BERBAHFNEUMART) R(MER)TBE REAWER
(MMAEEESN  BERKBFE)

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and where  Emission
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility)

A13 FMEEBEEEYHAE UEa8E) R (WER)E WY
EMNAESESEN  BERETE) -

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tons) and,  Emission
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

Al4 FEXEEEZEMRE (M L‘EEEJr“)&(ZzD@ﬁH)%“‘ 713587
E(WAEBESEMN BEZMBTE

A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and  Emission
results achieved.

A1.5 RN EERENEBRAFERR - 713587

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous  Emission
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

A1.6 HAREBEERETEEYN L REEESE  HERY
B i R PTIS AR o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE g kegrms(E)

52

Disclosure Indicator Section
BEER E=4:0]
A2: Use of General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including  Use of Resource
Resources energy, water and other raw materials.
A2 BRER —RER BRERER(BERR KEREMRME) MK BIREAS
= o
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.  Environmental
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh) and intensity (e.g. Performance
per unit of production volume, per facility) Indicator
A2.1 RENESMEER SEELER(NE - Rk REEBIEEZ
M EEE(ATRERTAREAE) REE(NEE
S FERIGHE) -
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per  Environmental
unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
Indicator
A2.2 BREKEREE(WMUNSESEM BERET REAWER
) o
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and  Use of Resource
results achieved.
A23 Rt gE IR E AR T EI R PAIIEAR o BIRER
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing  N/A
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved.
A2.4 MMSKEBGER KR R AERME - URIEAR T#ER
K et 8l RFTBAR °
A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished products (in ~ N/A
tons) and, where appropriate, with reference to per
unit produced.
A2.5 X MATABEMBNESE (UEFE) R(nE TEA
R)BEEEMGE-
A3: Environmental General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact ~ Emission
and Natural on the environment and natural resources.
Resources
A3:IRIER —REE BMEBITAHRRERRREREKEATZEN  HERY
RABIR BK ©
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on  The Environmental
the environment and natural resources and the and Natural
actions taken to manage them. Resources
A3.1 B EBEDHRRERAABERNEATER RERRKABR

EXNEERBEENTE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE e kEnmE (B)

Area: Social

Disclosure Indicator

REER

e

Section
=6

Employment and Labour Standard

ERERE TERA

B1: Employment

B1: EE

B2: Health and
Safety

B2 fERELS

General Disclosure

—REE

B1.2

B1.2

General Disclosure

— R EE

B2.1
B2.1

B2.2
B2.2

B2.3

B2.3

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
FRAFTHEEE BERES TERFE - R
H.FEge . Sl REBUREMEFER
BAHERK METHETABEATZENHAH
ERRIRBIER

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.

RIER - EREAE FRENRMRESNESR
B o

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

BRI FRAFNRERE DHEBRKL X -

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

FHREZ2TEFRERREREE BB EN
EENREK  RETHETARERTENRA
EREBROINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

BT eI T M A B R & -

Lost days due to work injury.

HAIBGHEAIERH -

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored.

RPN B R RE L 2 A REER
TRERFE-
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54

Disclosure Indicator

BREER

Section

;0]

B3: Development

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and

Development and

and Training skills for discharging duties at work. Description of Training
training activities.
B3: HER LI —MREE FARABRERTIERENAZLRENER BRKEI
Ko MIFINEE -

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and  Development and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle Training
management).

B3.1 RUNREEERN(NEREERE HREBE ZHRIEFI
E)EHNXINEEBDL »

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee  Development and
by gender and employee category. Training

B3.2 RUERIREEERZ Y BREETAXINT FHEKEFI

B4: Labour
Standard

General Disclosure

B8R o

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

Labour Standard

B4 : T AR —REE FAMEETIHAWS T @QBR: kb)ET S ITER
HETAEEAZENHBAZEZRRBAONER -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment  Labour Standard
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
B4.1 Ml HEEPMEREARRET RS S TR
T o
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices  Labour Standard
when discovered.
B4.2 MO EZERERBEASHERABRBERLMAKNRE IR
g
Operation Practice
&EEH
B5: Supply Chain  General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks  Supply Chain
Management of the supply chain. Management
BS : B EIRE —MRIEE ERHERNRREREERBBE - HEgEER
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. The Group will
provide this
recommended
disclosure next
year
B5.1 mwEE SN HEEREE - REBERKRTF
ERHEEBEZ
EREER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEgRELWRS (B)

Disclosure Indicator Section
BREER =4}

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,  Supply Chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being Management
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

B5.2 MAEHAERHERNES MERTEAED HEREEE
MHERHE URBFBAEINRITRERT
i

B6: Product General Disclosure  Information on the policies and compliance with  Product
Responsibility relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Responsibility

impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of

redress.

B6:EmEE —MREE FRMREHERNMBRENEERRLZE ESE & EmEf
BELMRBEEARBR A ENRE - REBFHE
TABEAFENHEBERRROINER -

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

B6.1 EEXEERERBEPTEL2EREEAM
ALK A DL -

B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints  Product
received and how they are dealt with. Responsibility

B6.2 BEEAREGRBRENKRFHEAREE X EREGE

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and  Privacy Protection
protecting intellectual property rights.

B6.3 Mt EERERRENIEREGTBANED - FLEE IR &

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures

B6.4 WL e T BENEMDKER -

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy  Privacy Protection
policies how they are implemented and monitored.

B6.5 HEBEEBARRERALBER  UREEANT LEBRE
&m PN jj/i
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Disclosure Indicator

BREER

Section

;0]

B7: Anti-corruption General Disclosure

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-corruption

B7: RES —RE®E A IEHE PR HFREEENQEE: RES
MO BFTHETAGEAZENHBERZLR
k==X
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt  Anti-corruption
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
B7.1 RERBFAHBTAXHEHEERBEYEELEN RES
B FRRENEE RFRER -
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-  Anti-corruption
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.
B7.2 A SHEERBRREF  UREERTRER RES
3% o
Community
HE
B8: Community  General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand ~ Community
investment the needs of communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
B8 : ttEIRE —REE BNt R2ERTREEMELRFTENTE 1=
REEBEDEEELEFROEE -
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)
BS.1 EIERER(HE REFTE HIFTRK - H=E
B Xt -8.58)-
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the  Community
focus area
B8.2 EEITHRMBAER(WSERER) - v
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Report of the Board of Directors

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 May 2021.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 25 to the audited consolidated
financial statements. The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
visual display solution services for concerts and events in Hong Kong,
Macau, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and Taiwan.

Results and Dividends

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2021
and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
audited consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 93 of this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 May 2021.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five years is set out on page 175 of this annual report.
Significant Investments and Future Plans for
Material Investments and Capital Assets

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the year ended 31 May 2021 are set out in note 14 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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Bank Borrowings

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 May 2021 are set out
in note 21 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

Interest Capitalised

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31 May
2021.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 May 2021 are set out in note 18 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 May 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity in notes 19 and 33(a) to the audited consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 May 2021, the reserves of the Company available for distribution
to shareholders amounted to HK$55,343,193. Under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company may be
applied for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to
the provisions of the Company'’s articles of association and provided that
immediately following the payment of distributions or dividends, the
Company shall be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
The Company did not redeem its listed securities, nor did the Company or

any of its subsidiaries purchase, cancel or sell any of such listed securities
for the year ended 31 May 2021.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 May 2021 and
up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chairman)
Mr. Tam Chun Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Kai Sing
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun
Ms. Loh Lai Ping Phillis

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting,
at least one-third of the Directors shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and meet the independent guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of
Appointment

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated
by not less than one month’s notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b)

Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which
may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by
either party on the other. The term of service of a Director is subject
to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in
the Articles.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries, as
applicable within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).

Emoluments of Directors and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director's competence, duties,
responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9(a) and 34 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 75 to 80 of this annual report.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Contracts

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors or an entity
connected with any of them had any material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, parent company or subsidiaries of the parent company was a
party and subsisting at any time during or at the end of the year ended
31 May 2021.

As at 31 May 2021, no contract of significance had been entered into

between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Director’s Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
31 May 2021 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
chief executive of the Company (including their spouses or children under
18 years of age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its specified undertakings as defined in the
Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Management Contracts

As at 31 May 2021, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Competing Business

During the year ended 31 May 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflict of interests which any such person has or may have with the
Group from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.
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Compliance of Non-Competition Undertakings

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, Mr. Chang Yu-shu, UCP Co., Ltd, Ms. Ching
Hsiang-yun and Next Vision (the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered into
a deed of non-competition dated 22 May 2017 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and each of its
subsidiaries), pursuant to which each of the Controlling Shareholders has,
unconditionally and irrevocably, undertaken to the Company in the Deed
of Non-Competition that he/she/it will not, and will procure his/her/its
close associates (other than members of the Group) not to, for himself/
herself/itself or jointly with or acting for any other person, firm or
company as shareholder(s), director(s), partner(s), agent(s), employee(s) or
otherwise, and whether or not for profit, remuneration or other purpose,
directly or indirectly be involved or engaged in or undertake any business
(other than the business of the Group) that directly or indirectly competes,
or may compete, with the Group'’s business or undertaking (the “Restricted
Activity”), or hold shares or interest in any companies or business that
compete directly or indirectly with the business engaged by the Group
from time to time except where the Controlling Shareholders and/or his/
her/its close associates hold less than 5% of the total issued shares of any
company (whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange or other stock
exchange) which is engaged in any business that is or may be in
competition with any business engaged by any member of the Group and
they do not control 10% or more of the composition of the board of
directors of such company.

Further, each of the Group’s Controlling Shareholders has undertaken
that if any new business investment or other business opportunity relating
to the Restricted Activity (the “Competing Business Opportunity”) is
identified by or made available to him/her/it or any of his/her/its close
associates, he/she/it shall, and shall procure that his/her/its close associates
shall, refer such Competing Business Opportunity to the Company on a
timely basis.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company of
his/her/its compliance with the Deed of Non- Competition from the
Listing Date up to the date of this annual report. The independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been
complied by each of the Controlling Shareholders from the Listing Date
to the date of this annual report.
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% #&ﬂ: (/'E>

Disclosure of Directors’ Interests

EEREIRE

(a) Interests and short positions of Directors and chief (a) EERFTETHAERAEA AT

executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short
positions of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the register required
to be kept therein; or (iii) pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by directors to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

(i) Interests in the Company
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest
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Number of
Shares Percentage of
(Note 1)  shareholding

B 17 8 B
(BftzE1) BERESL

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
BIEERE

Rt (ME2)
Notes:

1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to

75%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Next Vision.
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(i) Interest in associated corporation of the Company (i) RAXBEBEEPES
Number of
Name of shares Percentage of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity (Note 1) shareholding
RHEBE

EERE HEEEERB &% (HaE1) BRESW

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis ~ Next Vision (Note 2) Beneficial owner 7,500 (L) 75%

15 05 3 55 A Next Vision (Fff 5£2) EnEB A

Notes: FfEE -

i The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 1. FEHILAEZEBALTABESG B H
S=aE

2 Next Vision held 75% of issued Shares and was therefore a holding 2, Next Vision#; B & 3 1T X 1D #975% »

company of the Company.

EMRARE - RERAF -

RERBH -
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO (including interests and/or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered into the register required to be kept therein; or (iii)
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

(b) Interests and short positions of the substantial

shareholders and other persons in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company

As at the date of this annual report, so far as it is known to the
Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had or were deemed to have interests
or short positions in Shares or underlying Shares which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

3R & B0 EEE
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b) TEBRRRHEMALTRALQF
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Number of
Shares held/
Interested Percentage of
(Note 1)  shareholding
®E/BE
RN
KRB A
(BF=E1) BEREDL

Beneficial owner

BEDBEAA

Next Vision (Note 2)
Next Vision (Fft 53 2)

Notes:
1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. Next Vision was beneficially owned by Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis as to 75%.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis was deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Next Vision.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors have not been notified by any person who had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Share Option Scheme

The then sole shareholder of the Company conditionally adopted on 19
May 2017 the Share Option Scheme. A summary of the principal terms of
the Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

1.

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules and is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) had or may have made to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate the Eligible Participants (as defined below) to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and (i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Participants (as defined
below) whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”) to
subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board may
determine: (i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors
(including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute
or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Total number of Shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of
issued Shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no share option has been granted
under the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of Shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 Shares, representing
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to: (i) the issue of a circular by the Company containing the identity
of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such participant),
the information as required under Rules 23.02(2)(d) and the
disclaimer required under 23.02(4) of the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii)
the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time
with such Eligible Participant and his close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the Eligible Participant is a
core connected person) abstaining from voting.
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The period within which an option must be AREERESSTHEBRE
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and WEBREKRREBEE

performance target

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Directors to each grantee, but shall not be more
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. A grantee may be required to achieve
any performance targets as the Board may then specify in the grant
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be
exercised.

The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be
held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by the
Directors.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
must be at least the higher of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on
the date of grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (ii) the
average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share.
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8. The amount payable on application or acceptance
of the option and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans
for such purposes must be repaid

The grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant on or before the relevant acceptance
date of the option.

9. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date, i.e. 19 May 2017.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share options were
granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme. There were no outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in the sub-section headed
“Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 May
2021.

Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
had appointed Shenwan Hongyuan Capital (H.K.) Limited (“SWHY") to
be the compliance adviser since the listing of the Company. The
appointment was terminated on 31 August 2020 after the publication of
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 May 2020. As
informed by SWHY, neither SWHY nor any of its directors or employees
or close associates had any interest in the share capital of the Company
or any member of the Group (including options or rights to subscribe for
such securities, if any) or otherwise in relation to the Company up to the
date of the termination of the role as compliance adviser on 31 August
2020 which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule
6A.32 ofthe GEM Listing Rules.
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Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 31 May 2021, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the year ended 31 May 2021, the aggregate amount of turnover
attributed to the Group's largest and the five largest customers accounted
for approximately 24.0% and 54.3% (2020: approximately 28.8% and
59.3%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively. For the year
ended 31 May 2021, the Group's purchase from the largest and the five
largest suppliers of equipment accounted for approximately 50.5% and
97.5% (2020: approximately 56.7% and 89.7%) of the total purchases
of the Group, respectively. At no time during the year ended 31 May
2021 did the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the Group’s
major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group did not enter into any
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 28 to
the audited consolidated financial statements of this annual report. These
related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in note 9(a) to the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt from
the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high
level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards constantly. Except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules from the Listing Date up to the
date of this annual report. Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yeung
Ho Ting Dennis is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company. In view of Mr. Yeung's role in day-to-day operations and
management of the Group since April 2009, the Board believes that it is
in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Yeung taking up both roles
for effective management and business development. Therefore, the
Directors consider that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance and the Board is of the view
that this management structure is effective for the Group’s operations
and sufficient checks and balances are in place.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 18 to 37 of this
annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws of
Caymans Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

Subject to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), every Director is entitled under the Company’s Articles of
Association to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as
he or she shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has maintained a directors and officers liability insurance
during the year ended 31 May 2021. To the extent as permitted by the
Companies Ordinance, a directors’ liability insurance is currently in place
to protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 May 2021, the Group had 75 employees (2020: 91 employees).
The remuneration package of the Group offered to the Group's
employees includes salary, bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general,
the Group determines employees’ salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an annual
review system to assess the performance of the Group’s employees,
which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to salary
raises, bonuses and promotions.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its key stakeholders, including its employees, customers
and suppliers, to meet its immediate and long-term business goals.
During the year ended 31 May 2021, there were no material and
significant disputes between the Group and its employees, customers and
suppliers.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

The Group recognises employees as one of its valuable assets and strictly
complies with the labour laws and regulations and reviews regularly the
existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the reasonable
remuneration packages, the Group also offers other employee benefits,
such as medical insurance. The Group provides good quality services to its
customers and keeps a database for direct communications with recurring
customers for developing a long-term trusted relationship. The Group
also maintains effective communication and develops a long-term
business relationship with the suppliers.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 May 2021
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position can
be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on pages 6
to 17 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this report.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The environmental, social and governance report, which forms part of
this report, is set out on pages 38 to 56 of this annual report.

Annual General Meeting

The forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company
will be held on 2 November 2021, the notice of which shall be sent to the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.
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Closure of Register of Members

In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 28 October 2021 to Tuesday, 2 November 2021, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 27 October 2021.

Events After the Reporting Period

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not aware of any
significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to
31 May 2021 and up to the date of approval of this report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2021
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offered
themselves for re-appointment.

There was no changes in the Company’s auditor during the past three
years.

By order of the Board
In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis

Chairman

24 August 2021
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Biographies of Board of Directors and

EER

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (#%%E), aged 48, was appointed as a
Director on 4 November 2016 and was re-designated as an executive
Director, chief executive officer and chairman of the Board on 10
November 2016. Mr. Yeung is also the founder, chief executive officer of
the Group and a director of each of ITP (BVI), ITP (HK), Intechpro Macau
Limited, and the executive director, general manager and legal
representative of each of Shiji Tiansheng Cultural Communication
(Shenzhen) Limited (42 KB ALERHECRYNERAF]) and Shanghai
Yingtegao Stage Arts Limited (/825555 & 21 R A 7). Mr. Yeung
founded the Group in April 2009 and is primarily responsible for devising
strategies to develop the Group and overseeing the business and financial
performance of the Group. Throughout the years of serving the Group,
Mr. Yeung led the Group to adopt a number of latest LED and projection
technologies for creative applications for pop concerts, such as Mesh LED
and transparent LED panels. Mr. Yeung has nearly 12 years of experience
in video equipment rental and services. Prior to founding the Group, Mr.
Yeung worked as a senior manager of I-MAG International Limited, a
company which is principally engaged in video equipment rental business
where he was responsible for customer accounts handling from April
2007 to May 2009. During the course of his promotion of video
equipment rental service for I-MAG International Limited to its customers,
Mr. Yeung acquired the relevant knowledge of the video equipment and
visual display industry. From July 1999 to March 2007, Mr. Yeung worked
in various companies and was responsible for sales of products and
customer services.

Mr. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from Monash
University, Clayton Campus in Australia in May 1998.

Mr. Tam Chun Yu (FBEETF), aged 44, was appointed as an executive
Director on 10 November 2016. Mr. Tam joined the Group as an
operation manager in June 2009 and is primarily responsible for planning,
organising, coordinating and implementing visual display solutions of the
Group. Mr. Tam has over 16 years of experience in video equipment
rental and visual display solutions. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tam
worked as a technician of I-MAG International Limited from April 2007 to
June 2009 and Cosmo Pro AV Co. from February 2002 to February 2006.
Mr. Tam attended his secondary school education in Hong Kong from
September 1990 to August 1993.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Kai Sing (ZR&), aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 May 2017 and the chairperson of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company on 19 May 2017. Mr. Li has over
19 years of experience in accounting and finance matters. Mr. Li has been
an executive director of Focus Films Limited since September 2003. Mr. Li
was the Chief Financial Officer of Team Work Corporation Limited from
August 2000 to September 2003, the financial controller of China Star
Entertainment Limited (stock code: 0326) from June 1999 to July 2000,
an executive director of Interform Ceramics Technologies Limited (now
known as Alibaba Pictures Group Limited) (stock code: 1060) from
October 1995 to March 1999, and a vice president, finance of Leading
Spirit (Holdings) Company Limited (subsequently known as Leading Spirit
High-Tech (Holdings) Company Limited) (Hong Kong stock code: 0606)
from July 1992 to December 1993, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Li has been an independent non-executive director
of BExcellent Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1775), the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange, since June 2018.

Mr. Li was admitted as an associate of HKICPA in September 1988 and is
currently a member of HKICPA. He was also admitted as an associate of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (formerly known as
Chartered Association of Certified Accountants) in September 1988. Mr.
Li was also a certified financial planner as recognised by the Institute of
Financial Planners of Hong Kong in July 2004. Mr. Li obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 2007 and a Bachelor
of Social Science degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 1985.

Mr. Ma Tsz Chun (&), aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 May 2017 and the chairperson of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company on 19 May 2017. Mr. Ma has
over 33 years of experience in accounting and finance matters. Mr. Ma
has been a director of Andrew & Associates CPA Limited since November
2014, a director of Sino-Bridge China Consulting Ltd since October 2004.
Mr. Ma has been an independent non-executive director of Chinese
Estates Holdings Limited (stock code: 0127) since November 2008 and
Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (stock code: 6063) since March 2020, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Ma was admitted as an associate of HKICPA in September 1990 and
a certified public accountant (practicing) of that organisation in January
2001. He was also admitted initially as an associate in October 1990 and
subsequently as a fellow in November 1995 of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants (formerly known as Chartered
Associations of Certified Accountants).

Mr. Ma obtained a master’s degree of science in China business studies
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009, a master’s
degree of science and a master’s degree of business administration both
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2003 and
December 1997 respectively, and a professional diploma in accountancy
in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1987.

Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis (BEE¥), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 19 May 2017 and a member of
the audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company on 19
May 2017. Ms. Loh has accumulated extensive experience in the legal
field since 1988. From September 1988 to July 1993, she served as a
trainee solicitor initially and then a solicitor in Johnson Stokes & Master, a
law firm, where she was responsible for various legal matters including
litigation. Since January 1998, she has been a barrister in private practice
responsible for litigation work. Ms. Loh has been an independent non-
executive director of Chinese Estates Holdings Limited (stock code: 0127),
the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, since January 2006
and was an independent non-executive director of The Kwong Sang
Hong International Limited (Former stock code: 0189), the shares of
which were listed on the Stock Exchange for the period from April 2003
to February 2005.

Ms. Loh was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong
in September 1990 and a barrister of the High Court of Hong Kong in
January 1998. She was also admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of England and Wales in August 1991. She has also been a solicitor and a
barrister of the Supreme Court of Australian Capital Territory in Australia
since October 1991.

Ms. Loh was appointed as a member (January 2018 to December 2020)
and then as a Deputy Chairman (since January 2021) of the Board of
Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance), Deputy District Judge in the District
Court of Hong Kong in June 2014 and January-February 2016, and
Temporary Deputy Registrar in the High Court of Hong Kong in July 2018.
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EXELEEBEEABZHE (B)

Ms. Loh obtained a degree of Bachelor of Laws and a Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong in November 1987
and June 1988 respectively.

Senior Management

Ms. Ng Tsz Ning Loretta (:2£#%), aged 49, is an accountant of the
Group. Ms. Ng joined the Group in June 2015 and is primarily responsible
for overseeing the day-to-day operation of financial activities of the
Group. Ms. Ng has over 24 years of experience in accounting and finance.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Ng was an accounting supervisor of ASB
Biodiesel (HK) Limited from March 2014 to June 2015, an accountant of
Team Success (Pacific) Limited from February 2012 to November 2013, an
accounting manager of Jiawei Solarchina Company Limited from April
2011 to September 2011, an assistant accounting manager of Saraya
Hong Kong Co. Ltd. from March 2010 to February 2011, an accounting
manager of New Ocean Technology Limited from March 2003 to
December 2009 and an accounting and administration manager of VK
Holdings (HK) Limited from February 2000 to February 2003.

Ms. Ng obtained a bachelor degree in accountancy from University of
South Australia by distance learning in April 2003.

Mr. Lau Kai Chu Kevin (2/#£4), aged 48, is the internal audit manager
of the Group. Mr. Lau joined the Group in October 2016 and is primarily
responsible for company policy setting, performing internal audit, and
monitoring internal control of operation. Mr. Lau has over 21 years of
experience in accounting and internal audit. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Lau was a director of JR Corporate Services Limited from July 2013 to
September 2016. He also worked in CCT Telecom (HK) Limited from April
2012 to December 2012, last served as an internal audit manager. He
was also a regional manager, control and compliance of J.V. Fitness
Limited from October 2008 to October 2010 and an internal auditor of
Michel of HK from December 2006 to October 2008.

Mr. Lau was admitted as a certified internal auditor of the Institute of
Internal Auditors in May 2006. Mr. Lau obtained his bachelor’s degree of
commerce from University of Manitoba in Canada in May 1996.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

e e s e IR e s
—NAWANFEARAREREABRBERELE T
BRUNEBHELESE -

SBEEEAS
RERLT 9% AFEEEHERK
TR-FE-BEAAMAKXEE TER

EEEAEBUBEHNAEEEE - RK
TREFRYBESEBE24F LR N
AKREFB A - R_ZE—NE=ZAF_%
— R F N A R &+ & £ ASB Biodiesel (HK)
LimtedZ 85T EE RZE—Z=ZF=ZRZE
—E—=F+—A BEERE(KFEF)E
RARE:E R-_T——FWAE_Z
——F A EAEMEREGE(FR)BR
NAEHFRE NZE—FTF=RE_F
—— R EESERBTAEBRAFY
BedgE N-_ZT=ZF=-ZAFE_FTF
NE+ZR EEHEREERAA
KE: RR_EETF_HE_ZTT=F
R EAEESEBR(EB)ARATE:
NMATE#EIE -

RELEBRERBER _ZET=ZFWAR
MRARERSEFEELBM -

BlERELEE 48m RASEABEZL
B2 EER_ZT-—R"FEFTAMNALE
B - FZEBBFERAFHE - ETAE
BREEZENNIIZES - 2 EERSF
RAFEFEHEFEO2IFLER AR
SEHA RZZTE—=FLtAZE=_F—-RF
71 A BB - 2 % & ¥ £ IR Corporate Services
Limted EF - R _T—_FHWAE_ZF
—ZF+ZAHE TRAREFR(ES)
BRARIE ZEBECABETLE R
—TEENFET+AE-_ZT—ZTF+ AHB
% IR A& {E).V. Fitness Limited 2 25 #il & & #7 &
HEBERR_ETERNF+_AE_TZEN
£+ B ¥ 1EMichel of HK 7 A BF 25 516 -

BAER _ZTTERFRAERHRERRA
MESMBENEMAMESE - BIEE
R—ANAAFRLAEBMEXREEREEX

EEMEE LB -



Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEMNEREEEBABZEE(E)

Mr. Xu Minghuan (#RBAM), aged 37, is the project supervisor of Shiji
Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited (tt42 K 2% X (b{&
BORYI)AFRAR]). Mr. Xu joined the Group in February 2009 and is
primarily responsible for organising, coordinating and implementing visual
display solutions in PRC. Mr. Xu has over 10 years of experience in visual
display solutions and operating of visual equipment. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Xu served as a technical engineer at I-MAG International
Limited, a company which was principally engaged in the business of
video equipment rental, from May 2007 to June 2009, where he was
primarily responsible for coordinating and implementing visual display
solutions. From February 2004 to May 2007, Mr. Xu served as the
technical director at Black Leopard Performance Equipment Limited (£
SEEREAMR AT, a company which was principally engaged in the
business of production of lighting and LED and rental of equipment,
where he was primarily responsible for repair and installation of
equipment.

Mr. Xu received his vocational secondary education regarding electrical
and mechanical integration in Guangdong Mechanical & Electrical
Polytechnic (&R & E ) in July 2003.

Mr. Pei Mingzhong (#£83/8), aged 38, is the deputy general manager
of Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited (It 42 KB RHS A
fR/AA]). Mr. Pei joined the Group in June 2013 and is primarily
responsible for equipment development and maintenance. Mr. Pei has
over eight years of experience in visual equipment development. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Pei was a technical director of research and
development department of Shenzhen Zhongxiang Innovation
Optoelectronics Limited (ERIIFHFEIFTHEABRAFT]) from December
2012 to June 2013 and a manager of research and development
department of Shenzhen Broad Horizon Optoelectronics Limited (&3IIA

BRSO EREA R AR from August 2008 to December 2012.

Mr. Pei received his tertiary education in mechatronics from Jiangxi
Yuzhou Electronic Industrial College (TFE&INEFTHEET) in July
2003.
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Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EXELEEBEEABZHE (B)

Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#¥), aged 56, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 10 November 2016. Ms. Leung has been a director
of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services provider)
since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management &
Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
Stock Code: 6063) since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS
Hong Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an
independent non-executive director of Green leader Holdings Group
Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 0061) from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May 2004
and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a master’s
degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia in
November 2002.

Some English names of Chinese laws and regulations, government
authorities, departments, entities, institutions, natural persons, facilities,
certificates, titles and the like for which no official English translation
exists have been unofficially translated for identification purposes only. In
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name will prevail.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

=
pwc

To the Shareholders of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of In Technical Productions
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 90 to 175, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 May 2021;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended:;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 May
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
&8\ 2 B ()

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 2.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements
which states that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$35,078,402 and
net cash used in operating activities of HK$7,973,659 for the year ended
31 May 2021. As at 31 May 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$12,087,104 and maintained cash and cash equivalents of
HK$1,166,683. During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group's
operations were adversely affected by the Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") pandemic, the COVID-19 restrictions and control measures.
These conditions, along with the other matters explained in Note 2.1.1 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined 4| -
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report:

Key audit matters identified in our audit related to estimated useful lives
of visual display equipment and the recoverability of trade receivables.

Key Audit Matter
HRESTER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNEFNATEERREESER

Estimated useful lives of visual display equipment:

BEBRREBOMGTAIERFH

Refer to Note 2.6 in the summary of significant accounting
policies, Note 4(a) in the critical accounting estimates and
judgements and Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements for related disclosure.

F2HETEEAREMEMT26 ARG G LA
B fE4(a) R AR B BB R MT SR 1460 AHRBA 4 B8 ©

As at 31 May 2021, the Group held visual display equipment
of approximately HK$74.1 million (2020: HK$84.0 million).
For the year ended 31 May 2021, depreciation of
approximately HK$19.2 million (2020: HK$19.6 million) for
the visual display equipment was recognised under “cost of
services” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
#—?:—¢£H:+—E EEEREREGETRR
BHR7AVBEBET(ZE_FF 84 OE%;PJE) BE
:Ezfiﬂﬂ T—BLEFE BEBATRKEBRE
EW 5 R ARFG KA B R ﬁ%mwza%%
75(_ T_TF:196B8BT) -

Our procedures in relation to management’s estimated useful
lives of the visual display equipment included:

B EREGASERERREN A ERF AT
B e :

— We understood and evaluated the management’s
internal control and assessment process of estimation
useful lives of visual display equipment and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management
bias or fraud;

— BMTEAFHEEBYREGETNREBENMGEA
ERFHRAIBES RFEBIE LEBERML
AT EEMNEEREMEARARER(ERM
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BHNES NN EEBERETSE

Depreciation of visual display equipment is calculated using
a straight-line method to allocate the cost over their
estimated useful lives of 8 years, except for the equipment
which are custom made for a particular project or event and
their cost is depreciated over the duration of the project or
event.

BEBRRENENDRBERESE  EHEFEAR
FRERRBFNBER T DEAAR Eﬁiﬁﬁiéﬁm
R BRI R UL R B AR R REEHHFE M
e

Management estimates useful lives of the visual display
equipment with reference to the durability, expected repairs
and maintenance and future demand of the equipment.
ERENK2EZREBEOMABY RHBEERERUAR
ARFBR EEAREBERIRENAIERFE] -

Management also takes into account the industry practice
and expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in the market
relevant to their business.
EREBENERITXREBOHRBEEKERTSZ kN
ZEEYRMKBERTEBRNTE -

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of
visual display equipment is significant to the consolidated
financial statements and the determination of estimated
useful lives of visual display equipment, which has a direct
impact on the calculation of depreciation, requires the use
of significant judgements and estimates.
BMZELRRERAAREGETRENEEEHES
MBHREcEEEAN BETE T%EMJM%WE&W
ENEGBRIREBENEFGFIERFHEAFERAEANH
i & (& 5T e
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—  We assessed the reasonableness of the useful lives
adopted by the Group by reviewing the historical usage
of the equipment, discussing with management and
making reference to, where available, independent
research report on durability, expected repairs and
maintenance and future demand of visual display

equipment;
— BMEEEHNXRBEERE HEEEBEETHI®
R2RMB)EHEREGBETREMBIL AHE

& Ko i & N R 2R K B9 9 3L BT 55 R
SEMFEARERFRNSEMNE

& FE B

—  We tested on a sample basis, whether additions to
visual display equipment have been recorded in proper
categories for the calculation of depreciation; and

—  BAHEOAH E%E%ﬁ%ﬁ%h%makﬁ
BEGBETRRBLENEE R

—  We observed the Group’s physical count procedures on
visual display equipment and the physical condition of
the relevant assets to identify whether there is any
damaged or obsolete visual display equipment.

— ZfixEt EEEGRGEATRENERFERF
NEBEEENERRRL UBRNREFEEME
BRBEROREBERRME -

Based on the procedures described, we found the estimated
useful lives of the visual display equipment were supportable
by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
AREITER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BHNES NN EEERETSE

Recoverability of trade receivables:

B 5 FE MR I RO AT g E 1

Refer to Note 2.10 in the summary of significant accounting
policies, Note 3.1(c) in financial risk management, Note 4(c)
in critical accounting estimates and judgements and Note 16
to the consolidated financial statements for related

disclosure.
FRAHNETEZESTBRERMENT2.10 S @ERE EK
F3.10)  BReEbET RAEM A REE B RE

MiFE16EMHRAHXEE -

As at 31 May 2021, the Group had gross trade receivables
of HK$13,156,541 (2020: HK$15,471,911), against which
allowance for impairment of HK$8,450,229 (2020:
HK$2,821,350) were recorded respectively

RZBE-_—FHA=+—8" EEEESEWRE
%%ﬁﬁ@m%ﬁt@:gi-wwmnﬁn>

B B Ut &5 1R B (B B 8,450,229 T (=
2,821,350/ 7T) °

S

The Group applied judgement and estimates to measure
the expected credit losses allowance. The trade receivables
were grouped based on similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking
into account the customers’ ageing category and historical
payment profiles. The expected credit loss rates were
determined based on historical default rates and were
adjusted to reflect current market conditions and forward-
looking information in the macroeconomic environment
that may affect the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

Ew.@%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁxu;ﬁﬁﬁgﬁhﬁﬁ
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Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on
recoverability of trade receivables included:
BPAEREFEE Z R FIAN W@ T ITH R
FrEtE:

— We understood and evaluated the management’s

internal control and assessment process of recoverability
of trade receivables including its procedures on periodic
review of aged receivables and assessment on expected
credit losses allowance of receivables, and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

— RATEEFHEEEBYHE S REWIIAR KE %

MARES EFEREF BRETHENBYE
WRERFHEREAREEREEEERENR
o Iﬁ@%%ﬁﬁ?ﬁi%%ﬁf&ﬁmlﬁ
Rl EE(MERE TEE ZPRHYEEER
REBFFOGFRIEE) K A EARERRAA
E A Rk

—  We tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of the trade

receivables ageing report;

AR RS R

— We evaluated management’s assessment of the

historical credit loss rates by sample checking inputs in
respect of the assumptions made, such as historical
payment records and subsequent settlement records;
and

{5 4 38
ENREHEkEEEECH FEEEEHERE
EEBBRXNFMGE &
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BHNES NN EEBERETSE

We focused on this area in view of the magnitude of the trade
receivables and the determination of the related expected
credit losses allowance involved the use of judgement and
estimation as described above.

BMEIN T EERAESRKRAEBERA BY
HABEREEBREENET Y KERHE & & (1
EFra) e

Other Information

—  We evaluated the expected future changes in credit
risks in management’s assessment by sample checking
the inputs to the assumptions to external data sources.

— BMEBMEZYERRAAEA SRS EIE
R A E R E R A5 B R A TR HA R R 2
&) o

Based on our work, we found the judgement and estimations
adopted by management in respect of the recoverability of
trade receivables were supportable by the available evidence.

ERBRMNIIE RMBHREEENRE ZRKFBENA
Wem M ER ey HI B R ST B RIS 2 BREBE R I -

Hinfs 2

BERREZRHHEMERAR - R 8

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
&8\ 2 B ()

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chu Wang Hay.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 August 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EERER

For the year ended 31 May 2021 BE_ZT_-_—FHA=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 May
BERIA=1T—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Note HK$ HK$
M5t BT BT
Revenue W 25 6(a) 12,349,103 44,714,984
Cost of services Rl 75 B 7R 8 (34,849,638) (42,001,030)
Gross (loss)/profit F£318),/ 7 (22,500,535) 2,713,954
Other income H g A 6(b) 1,735,315 259,759
Other gains/(losses), net Hihlzs (&18) F58 7 494,130 (139,359)
Administrative expenses THRAX 8 (13,579,587) (26,353,151)
Net impairment losses on trade receivables ESRWFIEREEETE 160a) (5.628,879) (2,821,350)
Operating loss KR (39,479,556) (26,340,147)
Finance income B 75 U A 10 2,022 211,088
Finance costs B 7% B 2R 10 (540,771) (504,599)
Finance costs, net B 75 B AN V5 R 10 (538,749) (293,511)
Loss before income tax 7 15 %4 Al 5 18 (40,018,305) (26,633,658)
Income tax credit FEHER 11 4,939,903 2,328,472
Loss for the year FEEE (35,078,402) (24,305,186)

Attributable to: AT AL :
— Owners of the Company — AN AEE A (35,011,096) (24,257,194)
— Non-controlling interests — IR ER (67,306) (47,992)
(35,078,402) (24,305,186)

Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hfih 2 H E5 18 -

Item that may be subsequently reclassified to ~ HZ AJfEEF » B 2
profit or loss mIE B
— Exchange difference on translation of —REGINETEHE

foreign operations ek -] 110,280 (57,269)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FELEBERE (34,968,122) (24,362,455)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)

'_\_|

/\\/T\
For the year ended 31 May 2021

/\’\EH&

BHE_T

5k (B8)

T e = [T

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+—HLFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —T_EF
Note HK$ HK$
B 5 BT 7B TT
Attributable to: AT AL R -
— Owners of the Company —RRARHEEA (34,905,044) (24,310,854)
— Non-controlling interests — FEVERR R 13 (63,078) (51,601)
(34,968,122) (24,362,455)
Loss per share for loss attributable to FRERRAHEE AELES
owners of the Company during the year H) & AR 5 18
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — HEARREE (B 12 (4.38) (3.03)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be A E#4R &

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. E °
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI &

Asat 31 May 2021 RW=-ZE=_—FRA=+—H

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZEBE-—F RZZT-ZTF
AA=+—-H HA=+—H

Note HK$ HK$
B 5E BT BT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 14 74,562,201 84,972,105
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 5,095,179 3,453,938
Prepayments and deposits AR FRIERIES 16 6,613,378 10,396,660
86,270,758 98,822,703
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables Z S EWHIE 16 4,706,312 12,650,561
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BRHRE RER
H ) jE WK IE 16 8,903,044 11,047,124
Amount due from the immediate holding company J& Ut & # 1= % A 7 5018 28 50,000 —
Pledged bank deposits EEBRITER 17 — 3,000,001
Cash and cash equivalents ReNBEESEEY 17 1,166,683 4,547,631
14,826,039 31,245,317
Total assets BEE 101,096,797 130,068,020
Equity =
Capital and reserves attributable to EATEBEABEEREAR
the owners of the Company B
Share capital N 18 8,000,000 8,000,000
Share premium 1815 % B 18 56,496,624 56,496,624
Other reserves H A& 1,410,906 1,304,854
Retained earnings REBEF 4,782,054 39,793,150
70,689,584 105,594,628
Non-controlling interests FEIERR RE 13 (357,070) (293,992)
Total equity A 70,332,514 105,300,636
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BARRRE(E)

Asat 31 May 2021 W=-TE—_—FHA=+—H
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZEBE-—F RZZE-ZTF
EA=+—-H HAA=+—8H
Note HKS$ HK$
B 5E BT BT
Liabilities =K
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BELEBIEEE 23 427,601 5,367,504
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 3,063,539 11,332,237
Contract liabilities EHaE 6(a) 360,000 —
3,851,140 6,699,736
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accrued liabilities HmENZEBELRESEE 20 13,792,475 10,033,337
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 2,343,377 2,276,959
Bank borrowings $R1T 8 K 21 9,508,427 3,592,488
Taxation payable JE N 1A 1,268,864 2,164,864
26,913,143 18,067,648
Total liabilities FES=R 30,764,283 24,767,384
Total equity and liabilities EmkBEBRE 101,096,797 130,068,020

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

PA b 7 & B 75 50K 00 5% R £ B S BfY R — 6 B

conjunction with the accompanying notes. A o

FOEITCAZHEEMBRRNR_-_ZF_—F
NAZtTHEEEESHERKE -

The consolidated financial statements on page 90 to 175 were approved
by the Board of Director on 24 August 2021 and were signed on its
behalf.

Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Tam Chun Yu
BEE EEF
Director Director

BFE BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 May 2021 BE_ZT_-_—FHA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ESNGE PN A
Retained
Share Share Capital Statutory  earnings/ Non-
capital  premium reserve  Exchange reserve (accumulated controlling Total
(Note 18)  (Note 18) (Note 19(a)) reserve (Note 19(b)) losses) Total interests equity
BE  RHGEE EXREE EERE RERA/
(KizE18)  (HiaE18) (Ma19() EXRGE (WE19b) (REFER) Myt FEREE ERAR
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
Balanceat1June 2020 R=-ZE=FF
NA—HM&ES 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 198,814 332,296 39,793,150 105,594,628 (293,992) 105,300,636
Loss for the year FEER — - — — —  (35,011,09) (35,011,096)  (67,306) (35,078,402)
Other comprehensive Hth2EER
income:
— Exchange difference —REBNER
on translation of MEXEE
foreign operations - - - 106,052 — - 106,052 4,228 110,280
Total comprehensive income/ 2§18 4%
(losses) - - - 106,052 — (35,011,096) (34,905,044) (63,078) (34,968,122)
Balance at31 May 2021 R=-B--£%A
=+—-HM&S 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 304,866 332,296 4,782,054 70,689,584 (357,070) 70,332,514
Balanceat 1June2019  R=-Z-h#
NE—AHEH 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 252,474 332,296 64,050,344 129,905,482 (242,391) 129,663,091
Loss for the year FEBR = = = - —  (4,257,194) (24,257,194)  (47,992) (24,305,186)
Other comprehensive losses:  E fit 2 EE 12 :
— Exchange difference  — A E BN EHH
on translation of BREH
foreign operations — — — (53,660) — — (53,660) (3,609) (57,269)
Total comprehensive losses 2 HEBAE — — — (53,660) —  (24,257,194) (24,310,854) (51,601) (24,362,455)
Balance at31May2020 R-Z-Z%%A
=t+-HHMEEH 8,000,000 56,496,624 773,744 198,814 332,296 39,793,150 105,594,628 (293,992) 105,300,636

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 May 2021 BZE-Z-_—FAA=1T—HIFE

Year ended 31 May
BERA=1+T—HLEE

2021 2020
—B--% ZT-FTHF
Note HKS$ HK$
Bt & BT 7B TT
Cash flows from operating activities RETBHRESHEERE
Operating loss L& E R (39,479,556) (26,340,147)
Adjustments for: M T ZHEELFE
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment ME BERREBITE 19,540,771 20,002,747
Depreciation for right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,391,017 2,982,210
Provision for impairment of trade receivables B 5 WG IE R B E 5,628,879 2,821,350
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HE¥E - BE KR EH
W5 (157,318) —
Operating loss before working capital changes BELECEBAILEEIR (11,076,207) (533,840)
Changes in working capital: EEEGEE:
Trade receivables 2 5 FE W IE 2,315,370 9,569,018
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTRIE - R e READ
FEW IR (1,871,069) (1,194,856)
Contract liabilities EHBEE 360,000 =
Other payables and accrued liabilities HEmEMNRENESERE 3,194,248 871,211
Cash (used in)/generated from operations “e (A Frisis (7,077,658) 8,711,533
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNBEENEH (896,001) (4,808,461)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities #& & & & (Fr ) Fri5
THEE (7,973,659) 3,903,072
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFBRERE
Interest received 2 U F & 2,022 211,088
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE  HERKEN
equipment Fr 15 218 14 530,001 =
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and WEME  BER
equipment (Note a & b) sk (B sEakb) (929,164) (21,885,156)
Advance to the immediate holding company MEFERR R (50,000) -
Net cash used in investing activities HEFHMARSFRE (447,141) (21,674,068)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
meEHEenRak (B
For the year ended 31 May 2021 BE-ZT-_—FHA=T—HIEFE

Year ended 31 May
BERIA=1T—HLEE

2021 2020
—B-—-% —T-FF
Note HK$ HK$
Bt & BT T
Cash flows from financing activities METHAESRERE
Proceed of bank borrowings RITIEKATISRIR 26 9,508,427
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBITEK 26 (3,592,488) (3,149,11 8)
Payments of principal element of lease liabilities EEHERAEBELRESE D 26 (3,235,921) (2,832,941)
Payments of interest element of lease liabilities EEfEE fé BN EE D 26 (286,212) (198,038)
Bank loan interest paid BEfSRITERA A 26 (254,559) (306,561)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits AR T‘IT??M?FJZQ‘ 3,000,001 16,285
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities &l & & 8 F715, 7 (Fr )
Re F8 5,139,248 (6,470,373)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReERBSEEMR LD
gt (3,281,552) (24,241,369)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNEEXREBHEE (99,396) (49,810)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F ¥R & NIBEEEY 4,547,631 28,838,810
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRBEGMBEESEEBY 17 1,166,683 4,547,631

96 In Technical Productions Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

For the year ended 31 May 2021

Major non-cash transactions include:

(a

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group settled balances
amounting to HK$2,286,106 (2020: HK$4,858,952) for the
acquisition of certain visual display equipment with deposits for
equipment rental, which represented non-cash transactions. For
details, please refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group utilised
prepayments for purchase of equipment amounting to
HK$5,796,378 (2020: HK$1,536,227) to settle part of the
considerations for the acquisition of certain visual display
equipment, which represented non-cash transactions. For details,
please refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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General information

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 November 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time. The address of its registered
office is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1008 Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of visual display solution services for concerts and
events primarily in Hong Kong, Macau, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") and Taiwan (the “Business”). The Company’s
shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”) on 14 June 2017.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$35,078,402 and net cash used
in operating activities of HK$7,973,659 for the year ended 31 May
2021. As at 31 May 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$12,087,104 and maintained cash and cash equivalents of
HK$1,166,683.

Since early 2020, the Group’s business operations have been
adversely affected by the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease
(“COVID-19"), after a hit of months of social unrest and protests in
Hong Kong. The outbreak of COVID-19 has resulted in significant
decrease in commercial activities under the lockdown and a series
of precautionary and control measures imposed in various cities
where the Group operates, such as ban on social gathering of more
than a limited headcount, execution of pandemic prevention
requirements and restrictions and controls over inbound and
outbound travelling. These have led to postponement and
cancellation of pop concerts and live events during the year. In
addition, subsequent to 31 May 2021, the number of infected cases
caused by the COVID-19 variants such as Alpha and Delta have
been increasing all over the world because they are highly
contagious. The governments of the regions where the Group
operates may tighten the control measures again which can
seriously affect the Group's business. If the situation continues and
the control measures are prolonged, the Group’s business and cash
flows will be adversely affected.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast a significant doubt about the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the Group’s financial position and
performance, the liquidity requirements and its available sources of
financing to assess whether the Group will have sufficient resources
to fulfill its financial obligations. The Group has taken plans and
implemented measures to alleviate the liquidity pressure which
include, but not limited to, the following:

(i)

With the launch of the vaccination programmes and the
substantial decrease in the number of COVID-19 infected
cases in 2021 compared to those in 2020 due to the good
results of the control measures imposed by the respective
governments of the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau where the
Group primarily operates, there were signs that the COVID-19
situation has been easing in the regions. The economic
activities resumed gradually and pop concerts and live events
are permitted to be held since June 2021. The directors of the
Company have been closely monitoring the development of
the latest situation and have continuous discussion with the
customers about their plans to resume the pop concerts and
live events. The directors of the Company anticipate that the
Group’s business will resume gradually from July 2021
provide that COVID-19 situation is under control and
distancing measure is easing.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 May 2021, the Group had outstanding gross trade
receivables of HK$13,156,541, among which HK$8,553,002
aged over 365 days. The Group has implemented measures to
accelerate the collection by issuing reminders and letters of
demand to its debtors, negotiating with the debtors on their
respective repayment schedules and, where possible, entering
into repayment agreements with them. The Group
successfully collected settlement of trade receivables of
HK$2,336,643 subsequent to 31 May 2021.

In July 2021, the Group obtained a new banking facility of
HK$3,000,000 from a commercial bank in Hong Kong which
was secured by corporate guarantee of the Company, the
pledge of a property and the personal guarantee of a director
of the Company.

When necessary, the Group will continue to adopt a series of
measures to control the cash outflow by encouraging
employees to take no-pay leave, negotiating with suppliers
and creditors to extend the payment due dates, controlling
capital expenditures, obtaining rent concessions from the
landlords and tightening expenditures.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections which cover a period of not less than twelve months
from 31 May 2021. The directors are of the opinion that, having
taken into account the anticipated operating cash flows of the
Group as well as the possible changes in its operating performance
and the availability of existing and new bank facilities, the Group
will have sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 May
2021. Accordingly, the directors consider that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern and thus have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above, which incorporate assumptions about future
events and conditions that are subject to inherent uncertainties.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
depends upon the Group'’s ability to generate adequate operating
cash inflows through:

(i)  gradual resumption of business with further easing of controls
measures related to COVID-19 and as anticipated by
management to generate sufficient operating cash inflows;

(i) successful collection of overdue trade receivables in the
expected timeframe;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies 2
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)
(iii)  successful in draw down of the banking facilities as and when
needed; and

(iv)  successful implementation of various cost saving measures
and control of capital expenditures when necessary.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above plans and
measures such that it would not be operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to reduce the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
financial liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

2.1.2 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments
for the first time for their annual reporting period commencing 1
June 2020:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
BAGHENEIRRESGTEAEINR
(fEaT &)
Amendments to HKFRS 3
BAMBHREEAEIR(EFTR)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7
BAVBRELRNEIR -
REBMBREEAETR (&
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BEAEMBRELERFE 165 (IBETAR)
Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018
— J\ 5 Bt 75 4

EANER

EBMER

BB g RIS
$TA)

395%

EHMSER e

The amendments listed above did not have any significant impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A HRERIEE(E)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FEESHBEHSE@
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 B EE @)
2.1.3 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted QA3 EARBEMNFET EA R RE
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been EFHi e LA LR EEBHEER
published that are not mandatory for 31 May 2021 reporting == SR A=HF B®REHB
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These WoRRE A% BAEB W MIEREL
standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity 4o TEHEREZ SRR E A Sk R K R &
in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future HE T ewTBRrRABERRAKRR 5iE
transactions. RERNTZE -

Effective for annual
periods beginning on

or after
RTHBEHH 2%
RN EFERBER
Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1 January 2021
and HKFRS 16 — Phase 2
BEGTERFEIN BEVBRELERNEAR  MEEERE-F _BER —E=-—4%—H—H
EEMBHREEUNETR BEMBHREEL
FIRREBEM B REERFE 165 (EFTA)
Amendments to Annual Improvements Project Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 1 January 2022
2018-2020
FEBERERB (BRI A) EEMBHREEN _T-—N\FE —T__F—HF—H
R _TFEZFERE
Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37 Narrow-scope amendments 1 January 2022
ERMBHRELNEIN  FEGAERF 165 NEEEAT el I et N
hEBGTEREI7H (BFTAX)
Amendments to Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common 1 January 2022
Control Combinations
ERECEIE Y ACCEIRY) HEZEGE KNG GEE —_T-__#—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current 1 January 2023
or Non-Current
ERGERE 1R (BFIAX) BESEARDHIERD —E=-=%—A—H
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract 1 January 2023
BB HRELERF175 Rz a4 el o S Elel=
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2023
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
EAREBESH(ZE_ZF) MBBRERCEI-—fERABEBE —T_=F—H—H
REKBEGRZBEHERZ
pol |
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
EAUBHRELENEI10E REE G LR REFEHBENASALERR 3
5285k (B ETA) ZHENEELESITE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.3 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

The Group has not early adopted the above new standard and

amendments and is in the process of assessing the impact of those

new standard and amendments on the Group’s accounting policies

and consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Consolidation

(@) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Profits and losses
resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in
assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Change in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of
the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interest and any consideration paid or received is
recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Group.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(b) Change in ownership interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial position respectively.

2.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing the financial performance and
position of the Group, has been identified as the executive directors
that make strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a net basis
within other gains/(losses), net.

() Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of
which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
consolidated statement of financial position;
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies (Continued)

— income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Visual display equipment 8 years or over the duration of the
event, where appropriate

Furniture and other equipment 4 years
Motor vehicles

3-5 years

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount Note 2.7.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in other
losses, net in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows which are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets

2.8.1 Classifications

The Group classifies its financial assets at amortised cost. The
classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

2.8.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

2.8.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely
payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group's business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its
debt instruments at amortised cost:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

2.8.3 Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses), net together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

2.8.4 Impairment

The Group's financial assets measured at amortised cost are subject
to HKFRS 9's expected credit loss model. The Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
financial assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk. Note 3.1(c) sets out the details on
how the Group determines whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of trade receivables. The
provision matrix is determined based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of trade receivables with similar credit
risk characteristics and is adjusted for current market conditions and
forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the current
market conditions and forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

2.8.4 Impairment (Continued)

For deposits and other receivables, the Group measures the
impairment as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a
significant increase in credit risk of the other receivables has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses.

2.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts,
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered
into arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but
still allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain
circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

2.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash at
banks and bank overdrafts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.13 Other payables

Other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of
recognition. Other payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.14 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs
of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of
financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as finance
costs, net.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.14 Borrowings (Continued)

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the
entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part
of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, which is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period.

2.15 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.17 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Leases (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases of the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received;

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,
currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data) which
has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the Group entities
use that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of lease liability and any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less without a purchase option.

Equipment rental income
Equipment rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and consider whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the
most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which
method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred income liabilities are not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences or losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and where the deferred tax balance relate to the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.19 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the rendering of services in the ordinary course of
the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of discounts, value-
added tax and after eliminating sales within the Group.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple elements, the transaction
price will be allocated to each performance obligation based on
their relative stand-alone prices. If the stand-alone selling prices are
not directly observable, they are estimated based on expected cost
plus a margin or adjusted market assessment approach, depending
on the availability of observable information.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the good or service
is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
good or service may be transferred over time or at a point in time.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control of the good or service is transferred over time if the Group'’s
performance:

(i) provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

(i)  creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

(i)  does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the good or service transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the good or service. Specific
criteria where revenue is recognised are described below.

The Group does not have any contracts where the period between
the transfer of the promised services to the customers and the
payment by the customer exceeds one year. Therefore, the Group
does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group incurs costs to fulfill contracts in providing visual display
solution services. If these costs do not fall within the scope of
relevant standards other than HKFRS 15, the Group capitalise these
fulfillment costs as deferred costs in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or an anticipated
contract that the Group can specifically identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(©)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

If capitalised, these deferred costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which the revenue that they relate is recognised. The Group has
applied the practical expedient of directly recognising these
fulfillment costs as expenses when incurred since the amortisation
period of the assets that the Group otherwise would have
recognised will be less than one year.

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration in exchange
for services that the Group has transferred to a customer, and is
recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to
consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers the promised services to the customer, the Group presents
the contract as a contract liability when the payment is received or
a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is
the Group’s obligation to transfer the promised services to a
customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer, and is
recognised when a customer pays consideration or is contractually
required to pay consideration and the amount is already due,
before the Group recognises the related revenue.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below:

(i) Revenue from visual display solution services

Revenue from visual display solution services is recognised over the
show or event period of a project as customers have simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the Group's
services. Revenue is recognised using the output method by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation, which is directly measured by the value of
each show or event being performed.

A performance obligation is a contractual promise to transfer a
distinct good or service to a customer and is the unit of account
under HKFRS 15. Contracts of the Group include various services
which is integrated into a single deliverable and are therefore
generally accounted for as a single performance obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Revenue from visual display solution services (Continued)

The Group derives revenue primarily under fixed price contracts. If
at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated to
exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognized.

2.20 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as part of finance costs, net.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial
assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the
loss allowance).

2.21 Other income

Handling income, equipment repairment, technical consultancy and
project management income are recognised when the services are
performed.

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A SRR (B

124

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

2.23 Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by the employees
up to the year end date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based
on performance and taking into consideration the profit attributable
to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Pension obligation

The Group operates various defined contribution retirement benefit
plans which are available to all relevant employees. These plans are
generally funded through payments to schemes established by
governments or trustee administered funds. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays contributions on
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee services in the current
and prior periods. The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution plans are expensed as incurred.

Financial risk management

This note explains the Group's exposure to financial risks and how
these risks could affect the Group’s future financial performance.
Current year profit and loss information has been included where
relevant to add further context.

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

2
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

At 31 May 2021, the Group does not have any interest-
bearing financial assets or liabilities except for cash at
banks at floating rates and bank borrowings at fixed
rates, details of which are disclosed in Note 17 and 21
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
The Group's cash at banks earns interest at low interest
rates, which are not significant. Hence, bank borrowings
at fixed rates are what expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

At 31 May 2020, the Group does not have any interest-
bearing financial assets or liabilities except for pledged
bank deposits, cash at banks and bank borrowings at
floating rate, details of which are disclosed in Note 17
and 21 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. The Group’s cash at banks and pledged
bank deposits earn interest at low interest rates, which
are not significant. Hence, bank borrowings at floating
rates are what expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the directors of the
Company consider that the interest rate risk in relation
to the Group’s pledged bank deposits, cash at banks
and bank borrowings is not significant as the fluctuation
of the interest rates are minimal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(0

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to United
States dollars (“US$”), Macau Patacas (“MOP”) and
Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
Group entities’ functional currency.

In the opinion of the directors, US$ is reasonably stable
with HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate System, and
accordingly, the Group considers the foreign exchange
risk is low and no sensitivity analysis is performed
relative to US$.

At 31 May 2021 and 2020, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other variables
held constant, loss for the year ended 31 May 2021
would have been approximately HK$245,871 (2020:
HK$216,005) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains on translation of payables denominated
in RMB.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash at banks, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and amount
due from the immediate holding company included in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to its financial assets.

The Group has two types of financial assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss models:

. Trade receivables; and

. Other financial assets carried at amortised cost.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

Trade receivables of the Group represent amounts due
from reputable companies in the entertainment
industry. The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The Group
measures the expected credit losses on a combination
of both individual and collective basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Expected credit losses also estimated by grouping the
receivables based on similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery,
taking into account the customers’ ageing category and
historical payment profiles, and applying the expected
credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts
of the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re M mR M (8

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 ¢RAMEZE @
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (0 EERR(E)
Trade receivables (Continued) B2 EWIE (&)
The expected credit loss rates were determined based BHEEBEEXTNRER

REHORBEE  WREBEER

on historical default rates and were adjusted to the

effects of current market conditions as well as forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

The following table presents the gross carrying amount
and the provision for impairment in respect of

MK E

TEEFPKE

W 3R A B LS
B R 2 10 T IR 1 RHAE

-

TRIRR

ZEZ—Fk

~F-FFRA=+-A

collectively assessed trade receivables as at 31 May HETGEEZE S ERFIEN
2021 and 2020: A@EEETE&WE%{%-
Expected credit Gross carrying Impairment
loss rate amount loss allowance
RHEE B
BEX REAE BEEE
HK$ HK$
BT 78T
Asat31May2021 R=-TE=-—-SHRA=+-—H
Current (not yet due) B E (14 & 21 H7) 27% 3,030,420 814,343
1-90 days past due  #Hi1Z=90H 43% 545,660 234,570
91-180 days past due #1Hi91 =180 H 49% 1,027,460 506,497
> 1 year past due BHAERA 1 F 81% 8,553,001 6,894,819
64% 13,156,541 8,450,229

Expected credit

Gross carrying

Impairment loss

loss rate amount allowance
TEH (= & E
BEEEX REEE [k
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Asat31May 2020 R-Z-ZEFHEA=+—H
Current (not yet due)  B1HA (i K B H3) 0% 192,410 —
1-90 days past due BHEI1ZE90H 4% 6,265,000 250,600
91-180 days past due #8591 % 180 H 15% 3,818,001 572,700
181-365 days past due #1H3181% 365 H 30% 3,001,000 900,300
> 1 year past due BHAEEAF 50% 2,195,500 1,097,750
17% 15,471,911 2,821,350
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
“net impairment loss on trade receivables” within
operating loss. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account for
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised
cost include cash and cash equivalents, deposits and
other receivables and amount due from an immediate
holding company in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on
the 12-month expected credit loss. The 12-month
expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime expected
credit loss that results from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within twelve months after
the reporting date. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit
loss.

Management considered the credit risk of deposits and
other receivables and amount due from an immediate
holding company as low as the counterparties have the
capacity to meet their contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term.

The majority of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
are deposited in major financial institutions located in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC which are of high
credit rating. Management does not expect any losses
arising from non-performance by these financial
institutions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(0

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits are placed
with various landlords in Hong Kong, Macau and the
PRC, and are due to refund upon the expiry of the
tenancy agreements and handover of the leased
premises. The Group has not experienced any defaults
by the landlords.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits for
equipment are placed with various reputable companies
in Hong Kong and the PRC, and are due to refund upon
the termination of equipment rental contracts and
return of the leased visual display equipment. The
Group has not experienced any defaults by the
counterparties.

Therefore, the Group has assessed that the expected
credit losses for these financial assets carried at
amortised costs were close to zero under 12-month
expected losses method, and therefore no provision was
recognised.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities. The Group’s primary cash requirements
have been for additions of machinery and equipment
and payment for purchases and operating expenses.
The Group mainly finances its working capital
requirements through internal resources and bank
borrowings.

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents considered adequate by the directors
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The directors
monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings to ensure
adequate unutilised banking facilities and compliance
with loan covenants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e I mRERN T (8)

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 eREAREZE @
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) R"EBELEB(E)

The table below analyses the Group'’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the year end date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the AR HEI/A R TR E
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due MEeREIESYKRELIRIR S
within twelve months equal their carrying balances as o mMNALIREZELRAK I
the impact of discounting is not significant. R+ B K H A & &

TEBBEFELEERESR
WEHBEBERTHRE - FA
SENSRAEEBEONTAME

132

R HEEE -
Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1and 2 2and5
on demand years years Total
158/
REREER 1226 2Z5F BEt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 31 May 2021 NR-E-—F
EFHA=+—H
Other payables and  E {th JiE {~ 7018 2
accrued liabilities EitaiE 13,268,104 — — 13,268,104
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,644,616 2,034,942 962,262 5,641,820
Bank borrowings BT 8 3R (B &)
(Note) 9,508,427 — — 9,508,427
25,421,147 2,034,942 962,262 28,418,351
At 31 May 2020 R-ZB-ZTH
SEEr=E
Other payables and  E b & {~ 7R 18 &
accrued liabilities fEztaE 10,033,337 — — 10,033,337
Lease liabilities HE&8E 2,349,060 1,104,445 340,032 3,793,537
Bank borrowings R7T1E K (B aE)
(Note) 3,592,488 — — 3,592,488
15,974,885 1,104,445 340,032 17,419,362

Note:

The maturity analysis of the bank borrowings is disclosed with

reference to the agreed repayment schedules as set out in the

relevant agreements, taking into account the clause of repayable

on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR M ()

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 £ElEEZE @
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) REBELEB(E)
Without taking into account the clause of repayable on M 4 =t & 15 2 K8 R R
demand, the maturity analysis of the bank borrowings X SRITEROEIHS T
is analysed as follows: DT -
Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1and 2 2and5 Over
on demand years years 5 years Total
151,/
REREE 1226 2E545F HIB5E BEt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
At31May RZ-ZZE_—FH
2021 B == [E 2,825,657 3,242,808 3,763,114 314,582 10,146,161
At31May R-ZE-_ZTFH
2020 = - (2 2,594,059 1,153,678 — — 3,749,787
3.2 Capital Management 32 EXERE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AREBZEEANNEEAEREAN
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern EFEEELSENE D B AR
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for IR E R - W8 H 4 F 25
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital ERHA SR EEREENLERE
structure to reduce the cost of capital. PAR R B 2R B AN o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group B B EARLEE  KEE
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, AHBERBRERMNGKRE S5 -
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets AR ERESEAN  BTHR L
to reduce debt. EEEURDER -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 REARERE@®
3.2 Capital Management (Continued) 32 EXEE @)
The capital structure of the Group consists of shareholders’ AREEBNEAEELEREER

equity and total borrowings. Capital is managed so as to
maximise the return to shareholders while maintaining a
capital base to allow the Group to operate effectively in the
marketplace and sustain future development of the business.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “lease
liabilities” and “bank borrowings” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and
bank balances. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus
net debt.

The gearing ratio at 31 May 2021 was as follows:

RIEREE - ERREENHK
R FE AL 4458 ARER A
EARKREENHEN S LBEREE
RFBBETAREBER - A&
BiRBEEEABLREZTEN
ZHLERRFEBHRANELER
e FEBEERAR(ER
RAEMBARRITNIEE
BIRMRITERD BER S RRTT
BREE BXNREREAVT
AR IR [ 21 | 0% E RS &t

st
H o
A

R-BE-—FRA=1+—HHKE
EB8ELENT :

As at

31 May

2021
R=ZB=—F
EA=+—H
HKS$

BT

Lease liabilities HEBE
Bank borrowings Y

5,406,916
9,508,427

Less: Cash and cash equivalents W ReERBESEEY

14,915,343
(1,166,683)

Net debt
Total equity

BE%FE
B

Net debt to equity ratio

As at 31 May 2020, the gearing ratio is not applicable due to
net cash position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR (E)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SEAKREREm@m

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying value of financial assets and liabilities are a
reasonable approximation of their fair value. The fair value of
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current
market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar
financial instruments.

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the
use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal
the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group'’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, and
related depreciation charge for its property, plant and
equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions, the durability, the
expected repairs and maintenance and the future demand of
equipment. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
useful lives. It will write off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore affect the depreciation charge in future periods.
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(Continued)

ire IS R BT AT ()

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 4 RBARE5T{E5H R H E @)
(Continued)

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

(b) FETREERME

Non-financial assets including property, plant and equipment
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs of disposals. These calculations require the use of
judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset value may
not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of
fair value less costs of disposals and value-in-use; and (iii) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections
are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate
assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the net present value used in the impairment test and
as a result affect the Group's financial condition and results of
operations.

If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and the resulting future cash flow projections, it
may be necessary to take an impairment charge to profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(o)

(d)

Impairment of receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on an
assessment of the expected credit losses of these receivables.
The assessment is based on the historical default rates and is
adjusted to reflect the effects of current market conditions
and forward-looking information in the macroeconomic
environment that may affect the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables, which requires the use of judgements
and estimates. Management reassesses the provision at each
reporting date.

The loss allowance for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses significant judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(c).

Current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are transactions and calculations
during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the
period in which such estimate is changed.

SN
N

B 7% 2k B wE ()

4 BERSHEE R A E @

(9]

(d)
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Segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are
used to make strategic decisions. These reports are prepared on the
same basis as these consolidated financial statements.

The chief operating decision-maker is identified as the executive
directors of the Company. The executive directors review the
Group’s consolidated financial statements mainly from a single
business perspective as the Group is mainly engaged in the
provision of visual display solution services.

During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, all of the Group's
revenue was from contracts with customers and was recognised
over time.

The Group's revenue is attributable to the following geographical
markets:

(Continued)

EEEEREBEIZREREERZY
AREIFTREERARNREECLSE
D ZEWERBERERA UG
BREREROEERH -

TERERRERARABITES
HRASEETZRERHERBETRE
RORRE  WATESTERE—
XGAEENASE NGRS Y B R
%o

REBE-_TE-_—FR_T_TFHA
=t+t—HLEFE FFEAEBRKEY
RKERFEH RBERRER -
AEEWKZKRE A THIE TS

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2021 2020

—2--F ZT-THF

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

Hong Kong &5 7,752,243 17,326,598
PRC B 3,000,096 14,484,956
Macau B FY 1,140,764 12,023,430
Taiwan = 456,000 495,000
Others A — 385,000
12,349,103 44,714,984
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Contlnue )

re M mR M (8

5 Segment information (Continued) 5 2HEH @

The Group's total non-current assets were located in the following
regions based on the countries/place of domicile of the companies
comprising the Group:

AEBERBEERERBEAKEIE
TRBAMERR MEMK TR :

As at As at
31 May 31 May
2021 2020
RZE-Z—F RZZEZZTHF
EFA=+—H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Non-current assets: ERBNE EE
Hong Kong £ 80,451,033 89,879,021
PRC ==l 5,157,808 7,165,591
Macau P! 661,917 1,778,091
86,270,758 98,822,703

For the year ended 31 May 2021, there was 1 customer (2020: 2
customers) who individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s
total revenue. Revenue contributed from each of these customers is

BE_Z_—FHA=+—BIHF
B - BI2EF(ZE_FF:28%
PIERTARBEBKZENE10% ° &%

as follows: ERFEEBZEMEENT :
Year ended 31 May
BEZhA=1+—HILEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT 7T
Customer | 2B 2,958,333 N/A
Customer Il (Note) A RE) N/A 12,775,179
Customer Il (Note) BB &) N/A 4,802,000
2,958,333 17, 57281573

Note: Revenue from Customer Il and Customer Il did not exceed 10% of total
revenue during the year ended 31 May 2021. (2020: Customer )

i : REE—_TE-_—FRA=+T—HILEE"
REBZFPIRE P T BB 48 K
H10% (ZE_ZF : BFI) °
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6 Revenue and other income

(a) Revenue

(Continued)

6 WaRkHEMUYKA
() W=

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ET_FTF
HK$ HK$
BT T
Revenue from visual display solution REERE R ERS WS
services 12,022,452 44,403,026
Equipment rental income BREHEHERA 326,651 311,958
12,349,103 44,714,984
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities: AN B EERN K
As at 31 May 2021, contract liabilities amounted to R-_E_—EFEFHA=+—HB 448
HK$360,000 (2020: Nil). No revenue was recognised during & 5360,0008 T (ZE =T & : 4}1{)

the year ended 31 May 2021 relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities (2020: Nil). The amount is expected to be
recognised as revenue within 3 years and the amount does
not include variable consideration which is constrained.

Other income

(b)

E ey T Al
B BEREESHNABEERA RS (=
T_TEH) FREARXBERAKN3
FARRRYE BEBARBETEBRE
ZRFIH AT AE -

(b) HpWA

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=+t—HBLFE

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$ HK$

BT & TT

Handling income FEEBRA 130,690 259,759

Government grants (Note) BURT #8 Bh (B =) 995,625 =
Equipment repairment, technical REGEEE  RMHARIERERE

consultancy and project management U A

income 609,000 —

1,735,315 259,759

Note: Government grants represented subsidies obtained from the W5 - BT B IR B B S R BIAT R BT

Employment Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and subsidies obtained from the local
governments in Mainland China and Macau to subsidise the operating
costs of the Group's subsidiaries. There were no unfulfilled conditions
attached to these grants as at the end of the year.
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7 Other gains/(losses), net 7 Hittkz (EE)FHE

Year ended 31 May
BELZA=+t—BLHFEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$ HK$
BT T
Exchange gains/(losses), net bE W s (B1R) F8 336,812 (139,359)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  WERRXEN RS
equipment 157,318 —
494,130 (139,359)
8 Expenses by nature 8 RMHEEIHMEX
The following expenses are included in cost of services and AT S5t ABRTE AR AN 2 1T B =%

administrative expenses:

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+—HLEFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EFT
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S B = B 904,272 1,227,184
Consultancy and technician fees ua B R E 277,832 209,718
Cost of equipment and spare parts BE A RN 431,925 475,917
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE
equipment (Note 14) (7% 14) 19,540,771 20,002,747
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15)  {EFREE E#H & (i £ 15) 3,391,017 2,982,210
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) EE®RAAZ (KE9) 13,098,628 19,033,326
Rental expenses of short-term leases in respect A R TE A ¥ 2 MR E 2 & H
of rental premises and equipment (Note 15) HEZHSAZ (KFFE15) 4,719,557 2,159,715
Freight and logistics expenses EERYRE 779,780 3,451,576
Legal and professional expenses FERREEER 1,009,145 1,584,593
Professional service fees in respect of transfer  GRAEFHEEIR T HY
listing preparation HERKE —_ 7,167,000
Sub-contracting charges BB 1,347,500 3,272,786
Travelling expenses EZIRE 563,135 1,616,992
Others Hith 2,365,663 5,170,417
Total cost of services and administrative R 75 A A X 17 B S 4R R
expenses 48,429,225 68,354,181
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9 EE®AFEX
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9 Employee benefit expenses

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2021 2020
=g — —EFF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Wages, salaries and allowances, excluding TE& - %4 NEZBL

directors’ emoluments (TBEIEEFEHM) 9,468,404 14,842,550
Directors’ emoluments (Note 33) BB (M sE33) 2,503,590 2,778,074

Pension costs — contributions to defined BRAREEBR— MR EHRES
contribution plans (Note) D) 1,126,634 1,412,702
13,098,628 19,033,326

Note: B &

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, In Technical Productions Limited (the
employer) and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5%
of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees are subject to a
maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per month and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. The Group has no further obligations for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to state-
administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. For the PRC, the employees
contribute up to 10% of their basic salaries, while the Group contributes approximately
23% to 27% (2020: 19% to 24%) of such salaries. The Group has no further
obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
these contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

There were no forfeited contributions to defined contribution plans for the years ended
31 May 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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9 Employee benefit expenses (Continued) 9 EERFFEX@
(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) EEBREHFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in REEBREBEEZE_-_T - —FFHAHA
the Group for the year ended 31 May 2021 include two = +—BIlFENTERS H
directors (2020: two directors). The emoluments paid/payable MATEEREES(ZE_-F
to the five highest paid individuals are as follows: F-MEER) BN/ EBNHES
EeFsMALTHOMEmT

Year ended 31 May
BEIA=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F = eeEE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits %?ﬁ H b B K 48 A 3,421,140 4,120,415
Pension costs — contributions to defined & Kk & & A — (a1 7 € 5K
contribution plans PRI 85,183 92,136
3,506,323 4,212,551
The emoluments fell within the following bands: B4 N R T & E
Number of individuals
BEAE
Year ended 31 May
BEEA=t—HLEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
Emolument bands B < %5 [
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ % 1,000,0007% 7T 4 4
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T = 2,000,000% 7T 1 1
5 5
During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, no REBEE-_E-—ER_-_T_-_TF
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors RE=+—HBILEE A&EEH
or other members of the five highest paid individuals as an EEHIMEESRRAELSSETMA
inducement to join, upon joining the Group, leaving the +hMEMRESNINE  £E
Group or as compensation for loss of office. Wl EMARER - I AKXEEH
% BEFASBENEBHIELRE

Biw(E -
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10

11

(4

Finance costs, net

10 MR AR ANFEE

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+t—-HLEE

2021 2020
:g — ﬂi —_— ? — % $
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Finance income B 7 A
Bank interest income SRITH B U A 2,022 211,088
Finance costs B 7§ B AR
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE T B (254,559) (306,561)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEHNE (286,212) (198,038)
(540,771) (504,599)
Finance costs, net B 7% B 2NV RE (538,749) (293,511)
Income tax credit 11 FISEBER
During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, no Hong Kong R - —FE_ZT_ZTFHA

profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not generate any
estimated assessable profit (2020: Same).

The companies of the Group established in the PRC are subject to
the PRC corporate income tax at the rate of 25% for the years
ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. Companies incorporated and
operating in Macau are subject to Macau complementary tax, under
which taxable income of up to MOP600,000 is exempted from
taxation with amounts beyond this amount to be taxed at a fixed
rate of 12% for the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. During
the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, no PRC corporate income
tax and Macau complementary tax have been provided for as the
Group did not generate any estimated assessable profit (2020:
same).

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
applicable rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Income tax credit (Continued)

The amounts of taxation credited to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represent:

42 A

N

A M ERR M oL ()

11 FEHERE@®

ARG EERSERNNESEE

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+t—HLEE

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBBERE — (107,255)
Deferred income tax (Note 23) B IE TS 7R (T 5E23) (4,939,903) (2,221,217)
(4,939,903) (2,328,472)

The taxation on the loss before income tax differs from the

PERAEBERENRESNREREE

theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong MEAEMEBERSE  WINAR:
Kong as follows:
Year ended 31 May
BEEA=1+—HLFE
2021 2020
—E_—F —EEF
HKS$ HK$
& T 75 TT
Loss before income tax FriS Bl & 18 (40,018,305) (26,633,658)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% B E16.5% & (6,603,020) (4,394,554)
Effect of different tax rates for different TRB R K[ 5 &
countries 309,005 388,615
Income not subject to taxation BAZBKA (25,961) (28,264)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes A A 197,304 1,570,082
Tax losses not recognised REDRHRIEBEER 1,182,769 400,451
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses & F8 4 B 7~ HE 32 54 1E &5 18 — (157,547)
Over-provision in prior years BAEFEBREREE — (107,255)
Taxation credit HIAE R (4,939,903) (2,328,472)
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12 Loss per share 12 BRER
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to RN el s B8 S baliss ey )=
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of = +—BIEE EREANEEJIE
ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 May 2021 and RAFIREZRE AELEERR D
2020. TERBRMETHHEEE -

Year ended 31 May
BERA=t-BLEE

2021 2020
—EZ—F —E-THF
Loss attributable to owners of AArER AEMLEE

the Company (in HK$) (& s (35,011,096) (24,257,194)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares B2 %17 & i@ A% hfE T 19 &
in issue 800,000,000 800,000,000
Basic loss per share (HK cents) BREREE GBI (4.38) (3.03)
As there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding HREBE-_E -G/ T -_FTFH
during the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, diluted loss per B=+—HIEETEZETERITE
share is the same as basic loss per share. ME#EZE T @mlk e Eagk

EERGRESERER -

13 Non-controlling interests 13 FEIERER
The total comprehensive loss for the year ended 31 May 2021 FEiERESEERE TS - —%F R A
attributable to non-controlling interests amounted to HK$63,078 =+t HILEEHNZ2EEREAE S
(2020: HK$51,601) which are attributable to two individual 63,0787 ;o ( — & — & 4 : 51,6017
shareholders of Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng Technology Limited 7o) JhE B R FE Y TE I 42 KB R
("SSTTL”). SSTTL mainly incurred operating expenses of AR AR (DFEIHLRER ) B
approximately HK$1,001,407 (2020: HK$1,451,240) for the year ZEABRE RBEE-—"ZT—-—FF A
ended 31 May 2021, and it did not contribute significant revenue, =+—BIFEE  FItte RERE
total assets and total liabilities to the Group. FEEEKEL R Y L1,001,407% T

Z T T F 14512408 ) B
mUAEBWZE REENBEAGBIE
HEKRKER -
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14 Property, plant and equipment

14 ¥ -BERFZE

Furniture and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continu

AT & B 1% R BTt (4

ed)
E)

Visual display other Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
FER
REERERRE HtpHkE RE HEHEE st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT AT BT BT
At cost: BAA
At 1 June 2019 RZE—NFAA—H 163,531,616 1,332,988 2,219,462 1,538,668 168,622,734
Additions NE 28,062,577 62,079 — — 28,124,656
Exchange difference N = (158,483) (1,397) — (2,200) (162,080)
At 31 May 2020 RZZT-FF
S == 191,435,710 1,393,670 2,219,462 1,536,468 196,585,310
At 1 June 2020 RZZE-ZTE-A—H 191,435,710 1,393,670 2,219,462 1,536,468 196,585,310
Additions NE 8,956,006 81,616 — 106,626 9,144,248
Disposals HE — — (972,215) — (972,215)
Exchange difference PR =8 534,797 3,144 — 4,950 542,891
At 31 May 2021 RZZE-——F
AA=+—A 200,926,513 1,478,430 1,247,247 1,648,044 205,300,234
Accumulated RitHE:
depreciation:
At 1 June 2019, RZZ—-hE~A—H 87,952,474 1,133,497 1,336,059 1,243,418 91,665,448
Charge for the year FRZH 19,559,736 89,188 252,843 100,980 20,002,747
Exchange difference fE R ZE8 (51,879) 911) — (2,200) (54,990)
At 31 May 2020 R-ZZ-F4F
AA=+—AH 107,460,331 1,221,774 1,588,902 1,342,198 111,613,205
At 1 June 2020 RZZE-_TE-A—H 107,460,331 1,221,774 1,588,902 1734251 SS R NRNIR 68205
Charge for the year FRZ M 19,199,859 100,341 107,011 133,560 19,540,771
Disposals (Note) & (FfaE) — = (599,532) — (599,532)
Exchange difference BN =% 175,934 2,705 — 4,950 183,589
At 31 May 2021 RZZE_—F1R
E—[8 126,836,124 1,324,820 1,096,381 1,480,708 130,738,033
Net book value: BRTE FE ¢
At 31 May 2021 RZB=-—%
EA=+—H 74,090,389 153,610 150,866 167,336 74,562,201
At 31 May 2020 R-ZZT-FF
FA=+—H 83,975,379 171,896 630,560 194,270 84,972,105
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(Continued)
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 Y% BERZE@®
Depreciation expenses were charged to cost of services and WMERNSSHARBGRARITHEZ N
administrative expenses as follows: T

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+t—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EF-F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cost of services BR 75 BX Zx 19,199,859 19,559,736
Administrative expenses THAX 340,912 443,011
Depreciation charge for the year FAMEEH 19,540,771 20,002,747
Note: Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31 Wi #HE2—_E-—FRA=-+—HILtEE ¢
May 2021 were HK$530,001 (2020: Nil). Gain on disposal amounting to EY ¥ . BE RS T8 218 A530,001
HK$157,318 (2020: Nil) have been credited to other gains/(losses), net. BA(—TE T E E). P EFIF U

157318 L (ZE=_ZF : /)BT AHM
Wik, (B18) #48 -

15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 15 FRAEEEREESRS

(@) The Group’s leasing activities and how these (@) XEE2HETBERE A
are accounted for BEEEMAE
The Group leases various offices, warehouses and office REFBHRESERAZ - EER
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed WARE HESDETHR—
periods of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an BEABIEERIF - HEKKIRS
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms ﬁgg@fﬁjﬁ BEBREZENEIE
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any ZRiEE-BERAMRBHRESR
covenants other than the rental deposits in the leased assets ENHEERLSIN HERZTE
that are held by the lessors. Leased assets were not be used miNERRE - HEEELEHR
as security for borrowing purposes. YEE IR o
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15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 15 FAEEERHEEEE @

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated b) REEHBERRARAER
statement of financial position kel
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the EAMBRRAKRY ~EBHEE
following amounts relating to leases: SRWT ¢

31 May 2021 31 May 2020

—EZ—F —EZEF
EFA=+—-H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T

Right-of-use assets (Note) FERAEEE (M)
Premises L/ 5,092,459 3,434,898
Office equipment N 2,720 19,040
5,095,179 3,453,938

Lease liabilities HEAE

Non-current FEMED 3,063,539 B350
Current mE 2,343,377 2,276,959
5,406,916 3,609,191
Note: During the year ended 31 May 2021, the Group entered into new leases M B2 =-_—FAA=+T—HLF
on premises and recognised right-of-use assets of approximately B AEEERWETUHBEL
HK$4,986,013 (2020: HK$2,019,808). T 52 {5 FR & 4,986,013 78 L (=

T T4 22,019,808 L) °
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15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued) 15 FAEEEREEEE @

() Amounts recognised in the consolidated () REZEETHWERAER
statement of comprehensive income ke ]
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows ZAETEUMBERISBEBREE 2
the following amounts relating to leases: SEWOR
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TH
HKS$ HK$
BT I
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE
Premises L/ 3,374,697 2,965,890
Office equipment WRRE 16,320 16,320
3,391,017 2,982,210
Interest on leases liabilities (Note 10) HeEaEzf B (FE10) 286,212 198,038

Rental expenses of short-term leases in 7/ B0 Fl ) 3 K 5% 2 /2 BRI A
respect of rental premises and EvHeMAX (HE8)
equipment (Note 8) 4,719,557 2,159,715
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15 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (Continued)

(d) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

g A

N

S RERMTE(E)

15 FRAEEEREESE®W
d REEEESRERAER

statement of cash flows kel
During the year ended 31 May 2021, the total cash outflows REBEE_T=-_—FHAA=+—H
for leases were analysed as follows: HFE BEZRESRHERE D
W
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_TF
HKS$ HK$
BT T
Cash flows from operating activities K& EFEFMEHRLSRE (K=
(Note)
Payments for short-term leases in respect & R ¥ % K& < S HIF
of rental premises and equipment EZNR 4,719,557 2,159,715
Cash flows from financing activities FEEZHFBRETE
Payments of interest element of lease BEAEAENEHD
liabilities 286,212 198,038
Payments of principal element of lease BEREAGEAEHD
liabilities 3,235,921 2,832,941
3,522,133 3,030,979
Note: Payments for short-term leases were not shown separately, but included Mz : WA E M R W|MEF TR - HEA
in the line of “operating loss” in respect of the net cash (used in)/ MEARABEREELEEE (T
generated from operating activities using the indirect method. B)/FiEREFENLERE]
HAA -
(e) Extension and termination options (e) ERRKRILTIZRE
There are no extension and termination options included in HEAHTERSIEE LK |HE
the lease contracts. FHE o
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16 Trade and other receivables, prepayments 16 ESREMEWKRKIE: FBF
and deposits MERZ®E

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R=ZB=Z—F RZIZEZZE
AA=+—-H HA=+—H

HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables B85 F’é Y K 18 13,156,541 15,471,911
Less: Provision for impairment of trade W B 5E HSZ IR 1B
receivables (8,450,229) (2,821,350)
Trade receivables, net (Note a) B 5 EZEFEE (M sEa) 4,706,312 12,650,561
Prepayments for purchase of equipment ,ﬁ BRBENRIE 6,316,794 10,159,809
Deposits for equipment rental REHEES 6,498,861 8,631,337
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits £ FE I 3018 ~ FE S 5RIE &
(Note b) e (Hfwb) 2,700,767 2,652,638
20,222,734 34,094,345
Less: Non-current portion o ERENE D
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BEREENRIE (6,316,794) (10,159,809)
Prepayments and rental deposits BAREREE Hz & (296,584) (236,851)
(6,613,378) (10,396,660)
Current portion BN EB 5 13,609,356 23,697,685
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the year end date is the BAEJ%; EEHHNEAEERE S
carrying amount of each class of receivables and deposits MR EEWREBERIRSHERE - A
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as = B W 4 A (T AR R e o
security.
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate B REMEKRZENEREAE A
their fair value. FEMAE
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16 Trade and other receivables, prepayments 16 EFREMEBEWRIE - B
and deposits (Continued) REREZEE @
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables, REBEZE G RHEMEWNIE - BNXR
prepayments and deposits were denominated in the following BRIESHERMEN TS EEEE :
currencies:
As at As at
31 May 2021 31Mw2@0
R=ZB=Z—F RZIZE_ZFE
EA=+—B EHA=t+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HK$ BT 5,276,567 13,300,457
Us$ ETT 12,400,481 16,726,733
RMB AR 2,455,740 4,053,418
MOP R PTEE 89,946 13,737
20,222,734 34,094,345
(@) Trade receivables () EZEWFE
The Group's trade receivables are generally settled by cash on AREENEFERTE —BRER

delivery or credit period of 90 days after provision of services.

B IR AR 90K M= A H

As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, the Group’s ageing analysis of ANUB4EE R T ——FR
the gross trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows: —E-FEEFA=+—H K&
EEREZEHNEEZEER
HEREDTWT :

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020

R-BE--—- RKR-_F_F
ER=+—-HB HA=T—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
0-30 days 0&30K 996,167 48,440
31-60 days 31260K 755,000 2565
61-90 days 61290K 1,279,253 122,405
Over 90 days B0 K 10,126,121 15,279,501
13,156,541 15,471,911
As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, trade receivables of R-E :—ﬁ& TE-_TFERHA
HK$10,126,121 and HK$15,279,501 were past due =+—H" % 5%/A10,126,121%

respectively, and impairment of trade receivables of
HK$8,450,229 (2020: HK$2,821,350) have been provided
for. See Note 3.1(c) for information of trade receivables and
the Group's exposure to credit risk.

7T % 15,279, 501,%755’1 2 FE I
REERH TEFRESEK
XA Rk {E B 188,450,229 T (=

T T F 28213508 mw) B
HESRRFERAEEFER

B ry &R R EE3.1(0) °
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16 Trade and other receivables, prepayments 16 EFRHEHMEBWRIE - B
and deposits (Continued) RERES @
(a) Trade receivables (Continued) (a) E 5 FEWFRIEE)
Movement on the provision for impairment of trade B o EWHE R EEENE 0N
receivables is as follows: T ¢
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZB-Z—F RZZT-FTF
EA=+—-B HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
At beginning of the year F 1) 2,821,350 —
Provision for impairment for the year FNRE B 5,628,879 2,821,350
At end of the year FR 8,450,229 2,821,350
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits (b) HfERFRIE - A RE

(b)

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits mainly represent
rental and utility deposits and prepayments for insurance and
maintenance.

During the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020, the Group
settled balances amounting to HK$2,286,106 and
HK$4,858,952, respectively, for acquisition of certain visual
display equipment with deposits for equipment rental of the
same amount.

17 Cash and bank balances

(a)

154

Pledged bank deposits

As at 31 May 2021, no bank deposits were pledged to
financial institutions based in Hong Kong to secure the
banking facilities (2020: HK$3,000,001) (Note 24). The
weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s
pledged bank deposits was 0.001% for the year ended 31
May 2020.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits were denominated in
HK$.
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Hip W FIA - BN RERES
I2EHEE RARRBERE MR
B No R TR 5R0R o

BE-_ZT-_—Fk=-_Z-_ZTFH
A=Z+—BLFE  A&£EMUR
ESHENRBRERSEEEE
ETHREBRTRREZEBIRA
2,286,10678 7t } 4,858,952/ T °

17 BERBITE

(a)

EEFRTEMR

B =—%mFH =r—[8¢
BMERTERERT —BLR
EBNETBEE  NERRITR
& (=—Z —Z 4 :3,000,001/%8 )
(tsE24) =T —_ZFFH A
_+ AILFE  A&EEE K

AERONEFTHERFNEE
o.oo1 % °
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17 Cash and bank balances (Continued) 17 BERBITESR @
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (b) BERBESEEY
As at As at

31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZB-Z—F R-E-FT
EFA=+—-H HA=+—H

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

Cash on hand FHEBe 84 78

Cash at banks R1TIR & 1,166,599 4,547,553

1,166,683 4,547,631

Maximum exposure to credit risk = AEER B 1,166,599 4,547,553

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following WENLRESEBY RN TNEE
currencies: HRENE

As at As at

31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZB-—F R=_ZT_FT
FA=+—H HA=+—8H

HK$ HK$
BT I
HK$ BT 1,015,380 4,052,360
RMB AR 140,189 461,584
Others Hh 11,114 33,687
1,166,683 4,547,631
Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily ?E THEBESARTE XA
bank deposit rates. The Group's cash and cash equivalents CIRIZEIMERREAE c ANE
denominated in RMB were deposited with banks in Hong J//\/\E’%?r EBENREERAESE
Kong and the PRC. The conversion of the RMB denominated B ERNES R BERT
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of funds Ao AR EHE R 4 88 KRN
out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of VA K2 Hh B 35 N BEE R 7B 38 SF R EE A
foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government of RHEFMEI BT H & 8 INEE §l 2
the People’s Republic of China. A ROER o
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18 Share capital and share premium

19

18 RA KD E

Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
ZEREB TEREE
HK$
BT
Authorised: JARE ¢
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 eachasat31May R—ZZE-_EFHRA=+—H -
2020, 1 June 2020 and 31 May 2021 —E-FTFXA—HE-E
——FRA=+—H8KRE
B0 BTz BB 3,000,000,000 30,000,000
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares premium
ZEREE LZEREE B 10 = E
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR:
At 31 May 2020 and 31 May 2021 WRZ-ZZT-_ZFFH A
=t+—HBkR=ZT=—
FRA=T—H 800,000,000 8,000,000 56,496,624
MieE: AARGEE —BEBREB ([ZaT8)) -

Note: The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which became

effective on 19 May 2017. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Group's directors and employees, etc. During the year ended 31 May 2021, no
options were granted (2020: same).

Reserves

(a)

The Company was incorporated on 4 November 2016 and
the group reorganisation in connection with the Listing was
completed on 24 November 2016. The capital reserve as at
31 May 2021 and 2020 primarily represented the aggregate
amount of share capital of the companies now comprising
the Group after elimination of the inter-company investment
costs.

The Macau Commercial Code number 377 requires that
companies incorporated in Macau should set aside a
minimum of 25% of their respective profit after income tax to
the legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches a
level equivalent to 50% of their capital.
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(a)

RARBR_E—X E+—HAWA
gAY EE LT 2EESEA
RZZT—R"E+—A=+MB=
Ke-R-_E-_—FR-_F_F

FAZT—HWEARRFEETER
REBREETARNRANERE
(FEHE R RIEZERAR)

SBPREAHEITTHE T R
P RETR Ak 32 89 2 B FEAS & B BR BT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

19 Reserves (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in
the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to
be appropriated from the profit after income tax (after
offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in
their respective statutory financial statements, before profit
distributions to equity holders. All statutory reserves are
created for specific purposes. A PRC company is required to
appropriate an amount of not less than 10% of statutory
profits after income tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to
distribution of its post-tax profits of the current year. A
company may discontinue the contribution when the
aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve is more than
50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves
shall only be used to make up losses of the company, to
expand the company’s operations, or to increase the capital
of the company. In addition, a company may make further
contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-
tax profits in accordance with resolutions of the board of
directors.

20 Other payables and accrued liabilities

42 A

N

A M ERR M ot (48

19 f#E

(b)

(#8)

REERRERRE  EPBEGE

B R RIBRE TIAE BT IE
B 2 SEEARRT RRkE

HAEAD R BN E S EEH
5% F7 2 515 57 19 Bt & FB OF
W R AER) AR
HAERERBEDABTA NS
o BARAEDERHER
Bk FUBA - SR ATEBLOET
FITT 58 10% i A K TE B 4
BT ARRENRESE
H 38 A 50% + BIA R 1
EAR S EERBEEET
R AREE R A DES
MR TEA - Y oh - AAA
R RORERE B
BREE BB EE —SEAE

PN
Sz, ©

Htbt BN RERESFER

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020

R=ZZB=—f RZIT_T
FA=+—-H HA=+—H
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Payables for equipment purchases REBR BB FOR 5,129,930 4,628,524
Equipment rental payable JENREES 2,342,992 529,492
Other accruals and payables HibfEst B A RIENKIA 6,319,553 4,875,321
13,792,475 10,033,337
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20 Other payables and accrued liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, the Group’s ageing analysis of the
payables for equipment based on invoice date is as follows:

20

Hitbt BN RERETRE@®

=

N

£

oo

—E_—GFR-_ZE_ZHFHA
CAEBEERBEEZRHANR
EENRBEBNERED AT

As at As at

31 May 2021 31 May 2020

R-ZB-—F RZE_ZTHF

EA=+—-H HA=+—H

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

0-30 days 0Z& 30K 132,600 —
Over 90 days %90k 4,997,330 4,628,524
5,129,930 4,628,524

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and accrued
liabilities were denominated in the following currencies:

7N 55 [ H Al S SRR M B R B AR BR

E{ENA TS E%EHE

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020

R-ZB=-—F WR-EE_ZT

EFA=+—-H HA=+—H
HKS$ HKS$
BT 7 TT
RMB AR 5,477,603 5,152,873
HK$ BT 7,592,617 4,224,810
us$ = 586,005 609,405
MOP JERPT 136,250 46,249
13,792,475 10,033,337

The carrying amounts of all short-term payables and accrued
liabilities approximated their fair value due to their short maturities.
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21 Bank borrowings 21 RITER
As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, bank borrowings were repayable as R DB = — &y — B8 = BelkE gy
follows: =+—B AEENRITEROT

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZB-—F RZZEZZTHF
#B8=+—-H HA=+—H

HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bank borrowings, secured: RITER - BHEMA :
Balances repayable within one year classified as B —F RNEE - D E AR
current liabilities BENG 2,561,507 2,457,914
Balances repayable after one year, with clause 7B — E{% 15 5& BEREX
of repayable on demand classified as current EEKREHE AR EE
liabilities B A5 ﬁ? 6,946,920 1,134,574
9,508,427 3,592,488
The above bank borrowings bear interests ranging from 2.75% to WERTERREBEE_ZT=—FA A
3.75% per annum for the year ended 31 May 2021 (2020: 5.5% to =t BLEEEZEMENF2.75%
5.9%). £375%(ZF=FF : 5.5%%£59%) °
As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, the fair value of current bank RZEBEZ-—FRKR-_Z=ZFTFAHH
borrowings approximated their carrying amount, as the impact of =+ —H ARBEEELRLA B H;ﬁ
discounting is not significant. PTEFOATELEEHEEREMRS
As at 31 May 2021 and 2020, the Group's bank borrowings based n = Z\ = — esynem b — on £ 55 B
on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the loan =+—H AEBEIET 1ﬁa"§’\2\7§/\lf/{ T
agreements and ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand EA R :“é S (REBEERBEEHGTEE
clause were repayable as follows: KB H - RS AE ] 12 B KR BUE R
T :
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZEBE-—F RZZEZZEHF
FA=+—-8B HA=t+—H
HK$ HK$
BT T
Within 1 year 1FE R 2,561,507 2,457,914
Between 1 and 2 years 18246 3,066,101 1,134,574
Between 2 and 5 years 2FE5F 3,575,109 —
Over 5 years A5 F 305,710 =
9,508,427 3,592,488
The bank borrowings were denominated in HK$ (2020: HK$). RITBRAUNBT(ZE_ZF: B
JL)EHE °
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21 Bank borrowings (Continued) 21 B|ITER @
The Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 May 2021 were secured by AEBER_ZE_—F R A=+—8H
guarantees under the SME Financing Guarantee Scheme by HKMC MIRTTERBEERERRERA
Insurance Limited (“HKMCI”), corporate guarantee and director’s FEBLEBERRE D $E TF N B
personal guarantee. The Group’s borrowings as at 31 May 2020 BIERHZIBHOER 2 ERE
were secured by a guarantee relating to the working capital loans % $1| AEREEB AXEFR_Z
by the government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative T e El MERBED %
Region, corporate guarantee and director’s personal guarantee (Note EIJ THREREBRFMEZEESETREDN
24) and a bank deposit of HK$3,000,001. (Note 17) ER RAEREEEM@AERH

5¥24) K 4R 17 17 23,000,001 7 7T {E &
o (FisE17)

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its HE-_ZE - FrR_ZE_ZTFHA
borrowing facilities during the years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. =t+—HIEE AEEDEBTHE
TR E B RS R o
22 Balance with related party 22 BB S WA ER
Maximum Maximum
amount amount
outstanding outstanding
during the during the
year ended year ended As at As at
31 May 31 May 31 May 31 May
2021 2020 2021 2020

BE-Z--F BE-_ZT_ZTF

FA=+—Bit HEA=+—HIt
EFENRES FEMNGZE RKRIZTE=Z—F R-ZT_ZTF
KEESEH KEELE EA=t—HBH EA=+—H

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Amount due from the  J& I & £ 122 %
immediate holding UNEIE- Q%]
company 50,000 - 50,000 —
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23 Deferred taxation 23 EZERIE
The deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 17 E K X 1] o8 S B 1T B #E R 48 Al
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against HAfIEE EHEEEa EHK R
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to AREEREERESR YRR — B B
the same fiscal authority. The net amounts are as follows: B BEEFEHREEREBE TIUEK
8H o JFFEMT :

As at As at

31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R-ZEBE-—F RZZE-ZTHF
HFA=+—-H HAA=+—H

HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMGHAR
— to be settled after more than twelve months —B@+ —E A B &= — (3,514,821)
— to be settled within twelve months — Rt BEARNEE (427,601) (1,852,683)
(427,601) (5,367,504)
The movement on net deferred income tax (liabilities)/asset is as ELEFREH(BE) BEFENEH
follows: m
Year ended 31 May
BEZEA=1+—HILEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of the year F4 (5,367,504) (7,588,721)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) sFABZE (FEE11) 4,939,903 2,275 247
At end of the year FR (427,601) (5,367,504)

In Technical Productions Holdings Limited —Z=—F%3 161



162

4R A

N

B 75 i R B = (A8)

23 Deferred taxation (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities prior to
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as

(Continued)

23 EERE @

EHR — M RAE R N SRATERT
FIEHEERBENESHOT :

follows:
Deferred income tax liabilities/(assets) EEFEHAE (BE)
Provision for
Accelerated tax ~ impairment of trade Right-of-use assets
depreciation receivables Tax losses and lease liabilities Total
NEHERE  EIBERERERE BEEE EREEENEEEE wst
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“%--F ZT-TF ZB--F ZF-FF “F--F ZT-TF -“B--F _T-FTF “B--F “T-TF
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT B BT BT B B Er BT
At 1June RWAA—A 8,258,492 7,588,721 (375,796) — (2,492,171) —  (23,021) — 5,367,504 7,588,721
(Credited)/charged to (quME %)/
profit or loss gEXNR (1,179,366) 669,771 (615,043) (375,796) (3,100,560) (2,492,171)  (44,934) (23,021) (4,939,903) (2,221,217)
At 31 May REA=+-H 7,079,126 8,258,492 (990,839) (375,796) (5,592,731) (2,492,171) ~ (67,955)  (23,021) 427,601 5,367,504

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried-
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 May 2021,
the Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
approximately HK$2,230,866 (2020: HK$1,048,097) in respect of
accumulated tax losses of the PRC and Macau subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$8,538,318 (2020: HK$4,602,673)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income. The tax
losses of these PRC subsidiaries will expire within 5 years, while the
tax losses of the Macau subsidiary do not have an expiry date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ire MR M ()

24 Banking facilities 24 RITELE
As at 31 May 2021, the Group had total banking facilities of =63 = =425 f =Eqp— 8] axes
HK$10,000,000 (2020: HK$4,392,488), of which HK$9,508,427 ® /IR 17T B & 42 58 /410,000,000
(2020: HK$3,592,488) were utilised. The Group’s banking facilities TT(ZF = T F:4,392,4887% J¢ )
were secured by the following: H 95084278 (=T = T F:

3,592,488 L) EBA - ASEERIRTT
& LA 5 & T8 VR A

() as at 31 May 2021, the issue of guarantees under the SME iy M-ZE-_—FHA=+—HB'&F
Financing Guarantee Scheme by HKMCI which is wholly ERBREBE(BESEMNTERR
owned by the government of Hong Kong Special BNEEHE)BER/ NDRE
Administrative Region to the extent of HK$9,600,000; IR T 812 H 5 % 9,600,000 7T

B R

(i) as at 31 May 2021 and 2020, corporate guarantee by the iy REBT=—rER =T 554 5 5
Company and the personal guarantee by a director of the =+—H ' AAFRHEN D FE
Company; REARBl —BEZRERNEA

ER

(i) as at 31 May 2020, the issue of a guarantee relating to the iy RZE-ZZEFHA=+—"H8"' &
working capital loans by the government of the Hong Kong BEANNTHREBRFMEELESE
Special Administrative Region to the extent of HK$2,500,000; B & % 2,500,000 JT B &
and = R

(iv)  Pledged bank deposits of HK$3,000,001 as at 31 May 2020. () INEEEEEEEsmn)El= -—F &

#1877 17 5% 3,000,001 78 TT °
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25 Subsidiaries

Particulars of the subsidiaries held by the Group as at 31 May 2021

(%)

and 2020 are as follows:

(Continued)

25 B AT

AEER-_F-_—FR-_FT_FTFA
A=+t —BREHNHNEBARMNFIEN

T 5
Particulars of
Place and date of  issued and paid up Percentage of equity held
Name incorporation capital as at 31 May Principal activities
ARt R BRTR RERA=+—H
=8 =R:t BRRAFE ST 3 3=h0 0 TEE
2021 2020
—E--F% ZZ-TF
Directly held
EERH
In Technical Productions ~ The BV, Us$100 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
(B.V.I.) Limited 9 November 2016
("ITP (BVI)")
In Technical Productions HBREZHE 100% T REBREER
(B.V.1.) Limited ZE-RF
(TP (BVI))) S U
Indirectly held
BERE
TP (HK) Hong Kong, HK$10,000 100% 100% Provision of video display solution
10 March 2009 services for concerts and events
in Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC
and Taiwan
TP (HK) B ZZTNF 10,000 7T RER BM PERGER
=HE=gE EEGREDHRERGET
R R RS
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural The PRC, RMB3,500,000 100% 100% Provision of video display solution
Communication 4 July 2012 services for concerts and events
(Shenzhen) Limited* in the PRC
(e RE L E
(RIDBERAA])
4 R b E 1 FE - —F——F AR3,500,0007C APEREEE REBRMER

(RINBRAF

+tAMHAH
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25 Subsidiaries (Continued) 25 i D 7 @)

Particulars of

Place and date of  issued and paid up Percentage of equity held

Name incorporation capital as at 31 May Principal activities

aF 1 B 3L it B BRTR REA=+—H

£ =] MERAKFES FEEEEI® TEEH

2021 2020
ZEZ-% ZT_ZHF

Shanghai Yingtegao Stage  The PRC, RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of stage design and
Arts Limited* ( £/ %% 14 October 2014 equipment installation services
REZAMAERADR) in the PRC
PEREREEEN  FE —ZT-mF AK%1,000,0007T EHBERUESRIARRAER
BRAA +A+IA KR

Shenzhen Shiji Tiansheng ~ The PRC, RMB500,000 70% 70% Import and export and wholesale
Technology Limited* 11 July 2013 of video equipment and parts
(RYITTH 2 R BRI and related support services in
BRAR) the PRC

RNt 4D R BB HEZE—=F AR 500,000 7% FERE#EDREARIERE
BR AR +A+—H R R BB A R AR S R

%

InTechPro Macau Limited ~ Macau, MOP500,000 100% 100% Provision of video display solution
(RERBRM—A 27 November services for concerts and events
BERAR) 2017 in Macau

ERERM-A B —F—+F Y8 P9%500,0007T ARMEEEE REBRER
BR AT +—R=+tH GBRETREATRRE

3 The company is established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC. & ZARRRFBKIOIINEEE B -

g The company is established as a limited liability company in the PRC. & ZARRRPBEKIHEREERR -

Note: The English names of certain subsidiaries referred to above represent the best
effort by management of the Company in translating their Chinese names as
they do not have official English names.
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26 Note to the consolidated statement of cash 26 mEBREREFRRK:E
flows

RETDHEREREELZEEY

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from cash flows from financing

166

activities: BRI :
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings
HEAE 88 17 8 ™
HK$ HK$
T BT
At 1 June 2019 R=FB—-hFEXA—H 4,497,779 6,741,606
Cash flows Rens
— Payments of principal element of —EEHEAE
lease liabilities PNl (2,832,941) o
— Payments of interest element of —EEHEaE
lease liabilities MEE D (198,038) —
— Repayment of bank borrowings —EERITEX — (3,149,118)
— Bank loan interest paid —BEMIRITERFE — (306,561)
Non-cash movements JEIR S EE
— Acquisition of leases —WEEE 2,019,808 s
— Interest on lease liabilities —MHEARMNE 198,038 —
— Exchange difference —ENERE (75,455) —
— Bank loan interest —RITERA B — 306,561
At 31 May 2020 R-EBE-_ZEHEHFA=+—H 3,609,191 3,592,488
Cash flows ReEn=
— Payments of principal element of —HEaBRAS T DK
lease liabilities (3,235,921) —
— Payments of interest element of —HEaEMEE D MK
lease liabilities (286,212) =
— Proceeds of bank borrowings — RITE RIS KB = 9,508,427
— Repayment of bank borrowings — EEBRITERX = (3,592,488)
— Bank loan interest paid —BEfRITERF A = (254,559)
Non-cash movements FREEH
— Acquisition of leases —RERE 4,986,013 =
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEBEMNE 286,212 =
— Exchange difference —EHEHR 47,633 ==
— Bank loan interest —RITERAE = 254,559
At 31 May 2021 R-g-—#HA=+-—A 5,406,916 9,508,427
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27 Commitments 27 #EiE
Capital commitments B AREE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred as at 31 A =P = — 4B g = 53 = balkE o B
May 2021 and 2020 were as follows: = EI EET 4B E REEMERFH
XM
As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
ﬁﬁ_+ = £H_+ H
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BWE MK 1,450,717 2,109,896
28 Related party transactions 28 BEHARS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, W— e TSR — 5
directly or indirectly, to control the other party, has joint control 3 7] 42 H) B — ﬁ-}zﬁ,b 77 Bt 7 % 4%
over the party or exercises significant influence over the other party BABHMIMEASZE HEHFEAEA
in making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also ARt (WE ST HRIEZS  THAEAE
considered to be related if they are subject to common control. 4 B
The ultimate controlling individual of the companies now HEe_—_ - —ER_-_T_TFFHA
comprising the Group is Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis for the years =+—HIEEE - Z]K;,’% HBIREETA
ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. Al IR A B EE T & o
(a) Balance with a related party (a) B2 — BRBAEE S VAL B8R
As at 31 May
RE A =51
2021 2020
—E--F — T _TE
HKS$ HK$
BT & TT
Amount due from the immediate FE U E B IR A R R IE
holding company 50,000 —

RESRRIEEZHRE BEK
CRBERBRERERER -

The balance is non-trade related, unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

B
il
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28 Related party transactions (Continued) 28 BEA R B @)
(b) Key management compensation (b) TEEEAESEHM
Key management includes directors and other key TEEBAEBHEAERNES
management of the Group. The compensation paid or FHMTEZEEBEASE HEER
payable to key management for employee services is shown BMENSKENEEEIEABH
B MEIRT ¢

Year ended 31 May
BETA=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, other allowances and benefits  #H & - E {1 )£ 85 & & F 4,059,608 4,625,374
Pension costs — contributions to defined E{k & B — MR E 7=t 2]
contribution plans = 176,213 183,143
4,235,821 4,808,517
29 Financial instruments by categories 29 BERETHNERMIA

Financial assets
at amortised cost

REBERETZEMEE
2021 2020
—¥--F5 ===
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Assets as per consolidated statementof 4HGZABBRRERFAINEE
financial position
Trade receivables 2 5 e W KIE 4,706,312 12,650,561
Deposits and other receivables bicia &Eﬁﬁgﬂﬁlm 8,099,156 10,752,063
Amount due from the immediate holding =R R NEIE
company 50,000 —
Cash and bank balances WEe NIRTES 1,166,683 7,547,632
Total 185t 14,022,151 30,950,256
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29 Financial instruments by categories (Continued) 29 RERIZ SN ER T A @)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBERETAZEMEE
2021 2020
—_EBE-—F ===
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of %4 & Bt ik 5 & Fr 51 & &
financial position
Other payables and accrued liabilities HEmENRERESAE 13,268,104 9,527,305
Lease liabilities HEARE 5,406,916 3,609,191
Bank borrowings RITER 9,508,427 3,592,488
Total FE 28,183,447 16,728,984
30 Contingencies 30 AEE
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 May 2021 RZEBE_—FR_ZF_ZFH A
and 2020. =t—H AEBYEEARLAEE-
31 Dividend 31 BE
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the AANREBE_E-_—FER_EBE_FTF
years ended 31 May 2021 and 2020. AAZ+—HUEFEVYESFHEIR
B s o
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ire IS R BT AT ()

32 Statement of financial position of the 32 X7 E B BMRR T
Company

As at As at
31 May 2021 31 May 2020
R=ZZB=Z—F RIZE_ZE
FA=+—-H HA=+—H

Note HK$ HK$
B 3 BT 7T
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ERBARIKRE 44,709,149 44,709,149
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other receivables TEAT 3B K H b 8 W5k 135,432 153,980
Amount due from a subsidiary FE Uy —rE B B A T,TAI,E 21,150,174 22,511,336
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEED 58,378 59,037
21,343,984 222,724}, 353
Total assets BEE 66,053,133 67,433,502
EQUITY =
Share capital fi% 25 18 8,000,000 8,000,000
Share premium % 17 ) & 18 56,496,624 56,496,624
Reserves e 32(a) (1,153,431) 381,038
Total equity 1 RE 63,343,193 64,877,662
LIABILITY =R
Current liability REBAE
Other payables and accrued liabilities HihENHIEREGEE 2,709,940 2,555,840
Total liability HBEE 2,709,940 2,555,840
Total equity and liability EaRkEEESE 66,053,133 67,433,502
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved $ ARAMBRRARBAEETENR_ZF
by the Board of Director on 24 August 2021 and were signed on its =42\ B = T () e jﬁﬁ V=%
behalf. % 0
Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Tam Chun Yu
BEE BEETF
Director Director
BEF EF
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32 Statement of financial position of the 32 XA BB BRI T @
Company (Continued)
(a) Movement of reserves (a) fEESH
Capital Accumulated
reserve losses Total
EXRFEE 23 EE st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT 75 TT
As at 1 June 2019 R=ZZT—NFA—H 32,709,141 (22,747,533) 9,961,608
Loss for the year FEERE — (9,580,570) (9,580,570)
As at 31 May 2020 S Begaed s 55 B S q-— (8 32,709,141 (32,328,103) 381,038
Loss for the year FEEE — (1,534,469) (1,534,469)

As at 31 May 2021

N = =% == 32,709,141 (33,862,572) (1,153,431)
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33 Benefits and interests of directors 33 EERARES
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEHM
The emoluments of the directors of the Company paid or AREEFHEZE S - —FEN_FT—
payable by the Group during the years ended 31 May 2021 T 5 SRR EN I = E
and 2020 are set out below: HEMNNARBZEZHFMWBE RN
TR ¢
Year ended 31 May 2021 BFz—_=E_—HFA=+—AHI1L
FE
Salaries,
other Defined
allowances contribution
and Discretionary pension
Fee benefits bonuses costs Total
e -Htt REMRK
e EBREF BERAL BELEH st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Name e BT BT BT BT BT

Executive directors: #HI{TEE:
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting BEELE

Dennis (Chief (7TH B #)
Executive Officer) — 1,224,240 300,000 18,000 1,542,240
Mr. Tam Chun Yu EEFRE — 512,400 — 16,950 529,350

Independent non- BIFHITESE:
executive directors:

Mr. Li Kai Sing TRUR K E 144,000 — — — 144,000
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun BR&LE 144,000 — — — 144,000
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis Z& B8 ¥ 22+ 144,000 — — — 144,000

432,000 1,736,640 300,000 34,950 2,503,590
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33 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued) 33 EEFEANREDS @

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () E=HMN @
Year ended 31 May 2020 BE-_E2-_EEFA=+—H1
FE
Salaries,
other
allowances Defined
and Discretionary contribution
Fee benefits bonuses pension costs Total
e 2t FEH K
e ERREM MIETEL BELER st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Name e BT BT BT BT BT

Executive directors: #HITEE :
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting s R A

Dennis (Chief (7TH B #)
Executive Officer) — 1,197,407 300,000 18,000 1,515,407
Mr. Tam Chun Yu BEFLYE — 626,250 96,417 18,000 740,667

Independent non- BIFHITES:
executive directors:

Mr. Li Kai Sing FRUA S A 174,000 — — — 174,000
Mr. Ma Tsz Chun ERELE 174,000 — — — 174,000
Ms. Loh Lai Ping, Phillis Z& B8 3¢ 22 + 174,000 — — — 174,000
522,000 1,823,657 396,417 36,000 2,778,074
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) ESENKER
None of the directors received or will receive any retirement FABEEE FUE kR R T
benefits during the year (2020: Nil). BRBH(ZE_FF  FE) -
(c) Directors’ termination benefits () ESRLEERN
None of the directors received or will receive any termination F A BEE S F U SR R AT
benefits during the year (2020: Nil). BIEEMN(ZE_ZTF &) -
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33 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

Directors’ waived emoluments

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services (2020:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favor of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor
of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors during the year (2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2020: Nil).
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33 EEEAKER @

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

EERENE

FRAABEENEXRAERRE
e (T _FF 8)-

RERHRESHREME T
F=AmzRE

RER AABHERBREZR
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—EFE) -
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34 Events occurring after the reporting period

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the following events took place subsequent to 31 May
2021:

With the launch of the vaccination programmes and the substantial
decrease in the number of COVID-19 infected cases in 2021
compared to those in 2020 due to the good results of the control
measures imposed by the respective governments of the PRC, Hong
Kong and Macau where the Group primarily operates, there were
signs that the COVID-19 situation has been easing in the regions.
The economic activities resumed gradually and pop concerts and
live events were permitted to be held.

However, uncertainties exist due to the number of infected cases
caused by the COVID-19 variants such as Alpha and Delta have
been increasing all over the world because they are highly
contagious. The governments of the regions where the Group
operates may tighten the control measures again which can
seriously affect the Group’s business.

The directors of the Company have been closely monitoring the
development of the latest situation and have continuous discussion
with the customers about their plans to resume the pop concerts
and live events. In addition, the Group raised new banking facility in
July 2021 to alleviate the liquidity pressure and has taken plans and
implemented measures to enhance the Group’s cash flows by
accelerating the collection of trade receivables and reducing the
operating costs.
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Financial Summary

MBERE

Result B
For the year ended 31 May
BZEZIA=1+—RHALEFE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E—+tF ZTE-NEFE ZE-NF ZTTF —E=-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHET FHET FHET TERT
Revenue W &= 66,820 83,607 94,273 44,715 12,349
Cost of services PR 75 B A (32,908) (41,463) (48,135) (42,001) (34,850)
Gross profit/(loss) EF,(E8) 33,912 42,144 46,138 2,714 (22,501)
Profit/(loss) for the year 4 & |,/ (E18) (663) 17,928 22,536 (24,305) (35,078)
Assets and Liabilities EEREE
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E—tF ZE-N\F ZE-NEF —ZTTF ZE-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET TERT
Non-current assets FREBAE 64,941 82,002 90,475 98,823 86,271
Current assets mENE E 37,843 67,598 69,977 31,245 14,826
Non-current liabilites  FER BB & 29,010 8,339 7,589 6,699 3,851
Current liabilities mB B & 49,161 34,115 23,200 18,068 26,913
Net current (liabilities) & (A &) &EE
assets F R (11,318) 33,483 46,777 13,177 (12,087)
Net assets BEFE 24,613 107,146 129,663 105,301 70,333

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.
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